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WILMINGTON, DELAWARE, THURSDAY,FEBRUARY 18, 2010, 12:54 P.M. 
 
  THE CLERK:  All rise. 

  THE COURT:  Please be seated.  Mr. Heller, ready 

to proceed. 

  MR. HELLER:  Thank you very much, Your Honor.  If 

I may, I'll turn to the podium over to my partner, Mr. 

Foster. 

  THE COURT:  Okay.  Mr. Foster? 

  MR. FOSTER:  Good afternoon, Your Honor. 

  THE COURT:  Good afternoon.  We thought that first 

we ought to address the remaining ballot issues that are 

being pressed by the Equity Committee. 

  THE COURT:  Okay. 

  MR. FOSTER:  I have a brief opening and then we 

did decide to keep Mr. Stein here last night -- 

  THE COURT:  Okay. 

  MR. FOSTER:  -- and there were some new issues 

that had been raised here. 

  THE COURT:  Sure. 

  MR. FOSTER:  As you've seen already from Mr. 

Stein's declaration and affidavit and as you'll hear today, 

the solicitation and voting procedures that were used in 

this case are usual, customary, and standard for large 

Chapter 11 cases.  They're usual, customary, and standard in 

the securities industry.  They were vetted in advance with 
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major constituencies in this case.  They were entered and 

approved by this Court after notice, hearing, opportunity to 

be heard including by the Equity Committee.   

  At that hearing on the 18th, we took every single 

comment that was given to us by the Equity Committee on the 

Solicitation Statement, the Disclosure Statement.  There 

were no comments made on the voting and solicitation 

procedure.  That was the procedure that was entered by this 

Court.  That's the procedure that was carefully followed by 

Garden City Group which is the voting and claims agent 

that's been appointed by the Court in this case.   

  There's no basis in the case for second guessing 

this vote count.  There's certainly no basis in this case 

for asking that the case be re-solicited.  The vote counts 

are valid here and they should be accepted by the Court and 

we should have a finding that all classes voting have 

approved the plan in sufficient numbers.   

  Now I thought yesterday we might be able to do 

without Mr. Stein taking the stand, but we spoke with 

counsel after Court and determined that there are still some 

issues that are being disputed and there's some new matters 

that have arisen since the time Mr. Stein prepared his 

affidavit and declaration and so I'd like to call him first. 

  THE COURT:  Okay. 

  MR. FOSTER:  To address those issues.  We call 
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first Jeffrey Stein. 

  THE COURT:  Swear the witness, please. 

JEFFREY STEIN DEBTORS’ WITNESS, SWORN 

DIRECT EXAMINATION 

BY MR. FOSTER:   

Q. Good afternoon, Mr. Stein. 

A. Good afternoon. 

Q. Please state your name for the record. 

A. Jeffrey Stein. 

Q. By whom are you employed? 

A. Garden City Group, Inc. 

Q. And that's the voting and claims agent in this case.  

Correct? 

A. That is correct. 

Q. What is your position at Garden City? 

A. I'm a Vice President of the Business Reorganization 

Group. 

Q. And what was your role on the Accuride vote 

solicitation? 

A. Over, basically oversaw the solicitation from beginning 

to end. 

Q. All right.  Now you submitted a declaration in this 

case.  Correct? 

A. Yes, I did. 

Q. And would you take the debtors' exhibit notebook there.  
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Your Honor, if I might point out -- 

  THE COURT:  You're welcome to. 

BY MR. FOSTER:   

Q. Okay.  That's the debtors' exhibit.  If you'd turn to 

Tab 1 if you would, please.  

A. Yes, I have it. 

Q. Okay.  Tab 1 is the declaration you submitted in this 

case? 

A. That is correct. 

Q. And that's where you discussed the voting solicitation 

process and the vote tabulation results? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And is that declaration still true and correct to the 

best of your knowledge to this day? 

A. It is with one minor correction that I spotted the 

other day.  There's a paragraph where we discuss the 

delivery to Broadridge by handing the materials.  And I 

believe it's stated in this certification that it was on 

December 29.  In fact, it was done on December 28.  We did 

it a day earlier than the voting deadline. 

Q. And what paragraph is that for the Judge's assistance? 

A. Paragraph 7 and 8. 

Q. Thank you.  Now with the correction of the December 29 

dates to December 28 is that declaration true and correct? 

A. Yes, it is. 
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Q. Now would you turn to Tab 2 in the Defendant's, excuse 

me, debtors' exhibits. 

A. Yes, I have it. 

Q. And is that your affidavit that you prepared in this 

case? 

A. Yes, it is. 

Q. And that's where you responded to the Equity Committee 

complaints about the vote solicitation and vote counting 

process as of the time you prepared that affidavit.  

Correct? 

A. That is correct. 

Q. And is that affidavit true and correct to the best of 

your knowledge to this day? 

A. Yes, it is. 

  MR. FOSTER:  Your Honor, we'd move into evidence 

Debtors' Exhibits 1 and 2, the declaration and the affidavit 

of Mr. Jeffrey Stein. 

  THE COURT:  Subject obviously to the right to 

fully cross examine on any of these issues, is there any 

objection to the admission of the -- 

  MS. MACHEN:  No objection, Your Honor. 

  THE COURT:  Very well, they're admitted.   

  MR. FOSTER:  Thank you, Your Honor.  And Mr. 

Stein, what did you do last night after we came back from 

Court? 
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  MR. STEIN:  We went to Young Conaway's offices and 

reviewed the, what I'll refer to as Tab F, Tab Exhibit F of 

the Equity Committees' exhibits and reviewed the various 

what they term to be disputed issues on balloting one by one 

to see first of all if there's anything new in them.  And 

second of all, to see any possible responses to what they 

were raising to see if they were legitimate or not. 

  THE COURT:  Mr. Foster, hang on, I don't mean to 

interrupt. 

  MR. FOSTER:  Yes. 

  THE COURT:  But I have from -- I just want to make 

sure I've got all my ducks in a row. 

  MR. FOSTER:  Yes, sir.  The notebook that we're 

talking about, Your Honor is one that's titled Official 

Committee and Equity Security Holder Exhibit Binder for Plan 

and Confirmation Hearing. 

  THE COURT:  I know I have that. 

  MR. FOSTER:  Okay. 

  THE COURT:  Give me a moment. 

  MR. FOSTER:  Yes. 

  THE COURT:  I have -- actually, I'm not certain 

that I got that.  I have a valuation supplement.  Do I have 

the additional binder?  I cannot believe there's a binder in 

this case I don't have. 

(Laughter) 
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  MR. HELLER:  I'm pretty sure you do, Your Honor 

because we moved two sections of it into evidence yesterday.  

We did not move the section of -- that Mr. Foster's 

referring to now into evidence. 

  THE COURT:  That's fine, I got it. 

  MR. FOSTER:  You got? 

  THE COURT:  It was on my table. 

  MR. FOSTER:  Oh, okay, all right.  Well Mr. Stein, 

some of the items in this Tab F and -- yes.   

  THE COURT:  Okay, I'm there. 

  MR. FOSTER:  You're there. 

  THE COURT:  Yeah. 

BY MR. FOSTER:   

Q. Tab F, all right, very good.  Some of the items in this 

Tab F are new issues that have been raised since the time 

you prepared your affidavit? 

A. That is correct. 

Q. All right.  Let's talk through.  We don't want to spend 

more time on the ones that you've already addressed, but 

let's walk through the ones that are new, if we could.  The 

first item that they raised there under Section 1 which 

states voting -- debtors' voting procedures did not capture 

all of the ballots that were timely returned, refers to a 

Mr. Steve Keefer.  And that refers in turn to Tab 1 under 

Tab F.  Would you turn there, please? 
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A. Yes, I have it. 

Q. Now did you look into Mr. Keefer's vote? 

A. Yes, we did. 

Q. And was Mr. Keefer a record holder or did he hold in 

street name? 

A. He appears to hold in street name. 

Q. And what brokerage did he hold through? 

A. Two brokerage, Charles Schwab and TD Ameritrade.   

Q. Now do Schwab and Ameritrade handle their own 

solicitations or do they use a service? 

A. They use Broadridge Financial Solutions for their 

mailings. 

Q. And what is Broadridge Financial Solutions? 

A. Broadridge is a company that acts as a mailing agent 

for the vast majority of domestic financial institutions 

that hold publically secure, publically trained securities 

and street name for their clients. 

Q. So who was responsible for sending out Mr. Keefer's 

ballots? 

A. Broadridge would have been. 

Q. Did Mr. Keefer receive his ballot package? 

A. He purports to state so in his declaration in Paragraph 

2. 

Q. And does he indicate any problem with receiving his 

ballot package? 
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A. He does not in his declaration, no. 

Q. Did Mr. Keefer keep a copy of his ballots that he sent 

in?  That he says he sent in? 

A. It does -- there's nothing attached to his declaration 

that indicates that. 

Q. Now how does Mr. Keefer say he sent in his ballots? 

A. U.S. Mail. 

Q. And is this the recommended approach? 

A. It is not the recommended approach pursuant to the 

ballot that was sent to holders of publically traded 

securities. 

Q. Could you point out for the Court where the ballot 

states what the recommended approach is? 

A. Yeah, it was Tab 3, there was a ballot attached and in 

Paragraph 5 of the instructions, in the last two sentences 

of Paragraph 5, it says instead of effecting deliver by 

first class mail, it is recommended though not required, 

that holders use an overnight or hand delivery service, in 

all cases, holders should allow sufficient time to assure 

timely delivery. 

Q. Now is that recommendation in all the ballots used for 

beneficial holders of Accuride Equity Securities? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Why is that recommendation included? 

A. Well the vague -- a couple things.  The vague reason 
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I'd say the U.S. Mail and also to be able to have some sort 

of confirmation that it was, in fact, delivered to where it 

was stated it was delivered.  If you use an overnight 

delivery service or a hand delivery service, there would be 

a record receipt of that service. 

Q. And Mr. Keefer did not use the recommended approach, 

did he? 

A. No, not according to his declaration, no. 

Q. Who was responsible for receiving and counting Mr. 

Keefer's ballots? 

A. That would have been Broadridge. 

Q. Now did you have Broadridge or did Broadridge check on 

the status of Mr. Keefer's ballots? 

A. Yes, they did. 

Q. Turn to Tab 6, if you would, please.   

A. Yes, I have it. 

Q. What did Broadridge determine about Mr. Keefer's 

ballots? 

A. They determined that they did not receive the three 

ballots in question. 

Q. Now did Broadridge check it's late arriving ballots 

with regard to Mr. Keefer's? 

A. They apparently did according to this exhibits, yes. 

Q. And were -- was Mr. Keefer's ballots in the late 

arriving ballots? 
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A. No, it was not. 

Q. What did they determine about late arriving ballots? 

A. They received a total of 27 late ballots, 12 of which 

voted to accept the plan, 15 of which voted to reject the 

plan, the acceptances were in the amount of 57,842 shares 

and the rejections were in the amount of 71,885 shares. 

Q. So net out of those late arriving ballots, what's the 

net amount of vote against in the late arriving ballot pool? 

A. Just a tad over 14,000 shares. 

Q. And how does that number compare to the total ballots 

counted in this case? 

A. Very miniscule percentage.  The total ballot count 

share wise was over 33 million. 

Q. All right.  Let's turn back to Tab F, if you would, 

please, the beginning of the Section F.  The next issue 

that's raised there is regarding -- is reflected in the 

declaration of Kelly Bodway [ph] which is Tab 3 --   

A. Yes.  

Q. -- of the notebook.  Can you turn to Tab 3? 

A. Yes, I have it.   

Q. Now did you look into Mr. Bodway's ballot issue? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Did Mr. Bodway hold in street name or through a 

brokerage? 

A. Well yeah, in street name. 
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Q. And which brokerage did he hold through? 

A. Through, purportedly through both E Trade and William 

Blair. 

Q. Did Mr. -- and who is it that services E Trade and 

William Blair? 

A. Broadridge. 

Q. Did Mr. Bodway receive his ballot package? 

A. He purportedly did pursuant to Paragraph 2 of his 

declaration. 

  MR. MEYERHOFF:  Your Honor, if I may?  Sorry to 

interrupt, Mr. Foster, but they are reading from documents 

that are not yet in evidence.  They were part of our 

submission binder, but we didn't move them into evidence.  

I'm assuming based on Mr. Foster's use of these documents 

and the witness, that they have no objection to the entry 

into evidence of the entire section.  Is that right? 

  MR. FOSTER:  The entire section other than the 

commentary which as the Court reflected is -- or commented 

yesterday, the commentary is somewhat in the nature of 

briefing so I think we haven't been using those as part of 

the evidence. 

  MR. MEYERHOFF:  Right.  Illustrative for the 

Court. 

  THE COURT:  Right. 

  MR. MEYERHOFF:  But part of the binder sent to 
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chambers.  Correct? 

  THE COURT:  Okay.  But I appreciate you bringing 

it up.  To clarify then, as it relates to Tab F that we're 

working through, I think we've covered what the -- how I 

view the little precede at the front. 

  MR. FOSTER:  Yes. 

  THE COURT:  And I'm not deeming that evidence and 

I don't think it's submitted as evidence.  But as we look at 

the documents, the actual submissions under Tab F which I 

see is being Tabs 1 through 15, I don't know whether you're 

going to go through them all, but does the debtor have any 

objection to admission of them? 

  MR. FOSTER:  No, and in fact, Your Honor, I 

advised Ms. Machen by email this morning about 10:00. 

  THE COURT:  Very good. 

  MR. FOSTER:  We had no objections. 

  THE COURT:  Very good.  They're admitted then, 

thank you. 

  MR. FOSTER:   Thank you, Your Honor.   

BY MR. FOSTER:   

Q. Mr. Bodway, Mr. Bodway, how does he say he sent in his 

ballots, Mr. Stein? 

A. U.S. Mail. 

Q. And does Mr. Bodway's ballot recommend that approach? 

A. No. 
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Q. Now he says he sent in his ballots to an address at 

Proxy Services in Farmingdale, New York.  Do you know whose 

address that is? 

A. Yes.  That is the P.O. Box that Broadridge uses for 

solicitation. 

Q. Did Broadridge check for Mr. Bodway's ballots? 

A. Yes, they did. 

Q. And what did Broadridge determine? 

A. That they did not receive the Bodway ballot. 

Q. Now if you add up the total number of ballots of Mr. 

Bodway and Mr. Keefer that were not received, how many 

shares are we talking about here? 

A. In the neighborhood of about 200, between 215 and 

220,000.   

Q. And if they were included in a no count for Class 10, 

how would that affect the totals here? 

A. It would reduce the except percentages, accept 

percentage and increase the reject percentage by 

approximately a half a percentage point. 

Q. All right.  Now were there any other ballot complaints 

by the Equity Committee in the past? 

A. Yes, there were. 

Q. Turn to Tab 5, if you would.   

A. Yes, I have it. 

Q. Yeah, did you receive that email from Ms. Machen? 
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A. Yes, I did. 

Q. And it references Mr. Keefer and Mr. Bodway's ballots.  

Do you see that? 

A. Yes, in Sections A and C. 

Q. And it also references ballots of Brookville Master 

Fund and Front Point Brookville Horizons Fund.  Do you see 

that? 

A. Yes, Subsection B. 

Q. Did you check on the Brookville and the Front Point 

Ballots? 

A. Yes, we did. 

Q. Well what did you determine? 

A. We determined that they were, in fact, counted in our 

tally. 

Q. Okay.  There's one other ballot issue I want to raise.  

One moment, Your Honor, I'm sorry.  

  THE COURT:  That's just fine.  Very good. 

BY MR. FOSTER:   

Q. Mr. Stein, I put in front of you Debtors' Exhibit 17.  

Did you receive this email? 

A. Yes, I did. 

Q. And whose votes were being complained about here in 

this email from Ms. Machen? 

A. Ahab Capital Management, Inc. 

Q. Did you look into the Ahab ballot? 
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A. Yes, we did. 

Q. And what did you determine? 

A. We determined that it was, in fact, received and 

counted in our tally. 

Q. And it says here in the cover page at Debtor 17, that 

there is delivery confirmation showing that it -- the 

ballots reached Garden City on January 28.  Do you see that? 

A. Yes, I do. 

Q. Is that correct? 

A. No, it's not. 

Q. Where were these ballots sent? 

A. These ballots were sent to the Broadridge P.O. Box. 

Q. And can you show the Court where that's reflected in 

this document? 

A. On the third to last page of the exhibit there's an 

Express Mail receipt and you can kind of make out on the 

right, the first line says proxy services.  There's a P.O. 

Box indicated which is not too clear, but there is the 

Farmingdale on the last line.  And then on the last page, 

you can also see it on the track and confirm receipt that it 

was delivered January 28 to Farmingdale, New York  11735. 

Q. And whose address is Farmingdale, New York? 

A. That is the P.O. Box address for Broadridge. 

Q. And what's the Garden City address for ballots sent 

directly to Garden City in this solicitation? 
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A. In this case, we used our Dublin, Ohio office both a 

street address and a P.O. Box. 

Q. All right.  Let's turn back to the commentary under Tab 

F.  Go to the second section which talks about people who 

received ballots late.  First item there is Kenneth Kang of 

Trimaran Fund, an Equity Committee member.  Did you already 

address this in your affidavit? 

A. I did. 

Q. And that was Paragraph 19.  Correct? 

A. That is correct. 

Q. The second item refers to an email from Deutsche Bank 

regarding several lenders not receiving their packages.  

Does this relate to equity holders? 

A. It does not. 

Q. And did you look into this? 

A. Yes, we did. 

Q. Turn to Tab A, if you would with its reference there. 

A. Yes, I have it. 

Q. What did you determine about this inquiry regarding 

Deutsche Bank? 

A. This had to do with the Class 4 ballots.  And in this 

situation, we had an administrative agent with a group of 

participant banks.  The -- as is customary, the participant 

banks are not scheduled individually, they do not 

individually file claims.  So we as a solicitation agent, 
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would not know their identity, certainly their names and 

addresses.  We rely upon the administrative agent to provide 

a list which, in fact, they did in this case.  It came to 

our attention about 10 days before the voting deadline 

through counsel.  And we're obviously reading our balloting 

reports that it appeared that there were, I don't know if 

there was any way to know, few if any votes recorded in the 

4A category and so she contacted counsel.  And when counsel 

for the admin agent looked into it, it turned out that some 

of the addresses that we had been given were probably either 

outdated or not really designed to get to the appropriate 

party who would fill out the ballot.  So at that point, we 

were advised that the administrative agent told the 

participants to contact us by email or phone if they had not 

received the package.  Many of them did so at that point and 

we immediately responded by either whatever they requested 

either pdf-ing by email an appropriate package or 

overnighting a package to them. 

Q. So the problem here was that the administrative agent 

had provided you with incorrect addresses for some of the 

banks? 

A. That's correct.   

Q. And that wasn't a failing on the part of Garden City in 

any way was it? 

A. Absolutely not. 
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Q. Turn back to Tab F, if you would.  The next item on 

there, the third item in Section 2 states that some counsel 

had not received its ballot as of January 27.  And it refers 

to Tab 9 here in the book.  First of all, what is this -- 

are you at Tab 9, Mr. Stein? 

A. Yes. 

Q. I'm sorry, moving a little too fast.  Okay.  What is 

this document under Tab 9? 

A. This is a log that we kept internally of the ballot 

materials that were delivered via email to parties that 

requested a duplicate or just an additional solicitation 

package. 

Q. Now did you look into this claim that Sun counsel had 

not received its ballot? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And what did you determine? 

A. Well Sun as a holder of a publically trained security 

would have received its ballot through either Broadridge or 

if it's not and he was not serviced by Broadridge, through 

that particular nominee.  There was no reason for its 

counsel to have appeared in that database as a party that 

should have received a ballot.  If, in fact, and it probably 

did file a Notice of Appearance in the case, it would have 

received an appropriate solicitation package pursuant to the 

Solicitation Procedures Order, but it certainly would not 
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have been viewed as a party entitled to vote and, therefore, 

would not have received a ballot. 

Q. And here in this Tab 9 is there any material or 

information reflecting what was done to handle the request 

of Sun's counsel? 

A. Yes.  That's Brad Weiland.  It's on the third page, 

second from the bottom, Brad Weiland of Kirkland and it 

indicates that he just said in the solicitation materials 

and that the solicitation materials were, in fact, emailed 

to him. 

Q. Now do you know why Mr. Weiland at Kirkland was asking 

for solicitation materials? 

A. I assumed because he had a client in the case and just 

wanted to see a package, but I had no personal knowledge of 

why he would want it. 

Q. All right.  Let's turn back to Tab F.  Section 3 in 

this evidentiary submission states that various parties 

entitled to vote did not timely receive ballots.  And the 

first items, first two items there refer to Dr. Thomas Logan 

and Charles Gonzales of Albion Investors.  Now those are 

already fully addressed in your affidavit are they not? 

A. Yes, they are. 

Q. And just for the Court's benefit, would you state where 

in your affidavit you address Albion Investors and Thomas 

Logan? 
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A. Thomas Logan was at Paragraph 20 and Albion is at 

Paragraph 21. 

Q. Okay.  Now the third item there in Section 3 says that 

Goldman Sachs did not receive a solicitation package and it 

refers to Tab 12.  Would you turn to Tab 12, please? 

A. Yes, I have it. 

Q. Okay.  Did you look into this issue? 

A. Yes, we did. 

Q. And what did you determine? 

A. We determined that in this situation, obviously because 

it was coming from Elizabeth Feld from White & Case who was 

counsel for the administrative agent, that this fell into 

the category of the lenders when we may have received  

faulty -- either an outdated address or an address where it 

went to a person who was not going to be the person who was 

charged with voting on behalf of Goldman Sachs.  And we did, 

in fact, comply with the request to get another package out 

to Goldman Sachs immediately. 

Q. So this was another party in Class 4B. 

A. Yes. 

Q. For which you'd -- another party in Class 4B for which 

you had received faulty or otherwise outdated address?   

A. Correct. 

Q. All right.  And the fourth item under Section 3 here in 

the Tab F summary refers to numerous holders from major 
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financial institutions that had not received their ballots.  

Do you see that? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And it refers to Tab 13 to support that.  Would you 

turn to Tab 13? 

A. Yes, I have. 

Q. What -- where's the material here that's shown in Tab 

13? 

A. It's two pages and I would point out that this was -- 

there was an original submission, the first page, and then a 

subsequent submission that supplemented the first page.  So 

the second page really repeats the first page and adds two 

additional entries.  It does show that there were only seven 

entries on this page.  One of them, in fact, happens to be 

you.  And you're not a major financial institution.  And the 

three at the bottom, Trimaran, Dr. Logan, Albion are 

addressed in my affidavit as I previously stated.  And the 

remaining three, Eaton Vance, Bank of America, and Hartford 

are all Class 4 B parties who I discussed fell within the 

category of banks who just may not have gotten it because of 

a faulty address. 

Q. All right.  We're getting close here.  Section 4 under 

Tab F, if you'd turn to that, please. 

A. Yes. 

Q. And it says the claims agent was not responsive to 
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inquiries of concerned voters.  Let's look at the first item 

there, an email from J. Zhou at Millbank which is attached 

under Tab 14.  Would you turn to Tab 14, please? 

A. Yes, I have it. 

Q. For the benefit of the Court, would you point out to 

the Court what email is referenced there because it's 

actually not on the first page of Tab 14. 

A. Yes, it's the second email on the second page to the 

Latham team from Jessica Zhou at Millbank. 

Q. Okay.  So did you look into the issue that was raised 

in Ms. Zhou's email? 

A. Yes.  And it indicates that there was one noteholder 

who said they had not received a package and that we had 

"not been responsive to their inquiry."  Last night, we 

called Ms. Zhou to see if we could run down who this person 

was and to see if this allegation was, in fact, correct.  

Were advised that it was outfit by the name of GMO which 

stands for Grantham, Mayo and Van Otterloo, something to 

that effect.  I think it's identified in one of the exhibits 

here.  And that person was contacted, in fact, by Millbank 

last night.  And Millbank got back to us and advised that 

that person had, in fact, received a package and that their 

prior call to Millbank did not in any way indicate that the 

process had been faulty and that they were satisfied that 

the -- that their -- that they had an ample opportunity to 
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vote. 

  MR. MEYERHOFF:  Your Honor, I could have objected 

on the hearsay grounds to pretty much all of that answer or 

move to strike it.  I understand the Court is giving broad 

latitude on hearsay.  We're fine with that as the same 

latitude is granted in both directions. 

  THE COURT:  Well I certainly recognize that it's 

hearsay and so I will accord it the weight it's due having 

heard it. 

  MR. MEYERHOFF:  Thank you, Your Honor. 

  THE COURT:  Okay. 

  MR. FOSTER:  Thank you, Your Honor. 

BY MR. FOSTER:    

Q. Mr. Stein, just to close the loop on this, would you 

turn to Tab 15? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Does Tab 15 reflect the result of this inquiry from, 

I'm having trouble with it, too, Grantham, Mayo & Van 

Otterloo? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Where is that shown? 

A. It's on the second page and this is the internal GCG 

call log regarding solicitation.  And it shows a call from 

Chris Hudson of the Grantham firm on January 12 saying he 

was in need of solicitation materials.  And as I said, he 
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was, in fact, provided with them. 

Q. All right, thank you.  And you determined from the call 

he made last night to Chris Hudson of Grantham, Mayo & Van 

Otterloo was indeed the basis for this email from Millbank 

back on January the 11th.  Correct? 

A. Correct. 

Q. All right.  The next item in Section 4 refers to a 

Kenneth Kang of Trimaran again.  You've addressed Trimaran 

in your affidavit, have you not? 

A. Yes, I did. 

Q. All right.  And the final item in Section 4 refers to 

Bank of America receiving calls that Nick -- from Nick 

Pavlovich [ph]. 

A. Yes. 

Q. And it refers to Tab 15.  Can you turn to that, please? 

A. Yes, I have it. 

Q. Now what pages under -- first of all, what's the 

material there on Tab 15? 

A. That again is the internal GCG call log. 

Q. And so GCG has a custom and practice of recording all 

logs that are received in -- or excuse me, recording all 

telephone calls that are received on its help line in 

connection with the solicitation? 

A. That's correct. 

Q. All right.  Where in Tab 15 is there a material that 
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references the inquiry of Mr. Pavlovich? 

A. He shows up on the third and fourth page. 

Q. And did you look into this issue? 

A. Yes. 

Q. What did you determine? 

A. We determined that Bank of America was calling in its 

capacity as a Class 4 creditor and lender.  Again, fell into 

the same category that I had previously discussed and that 

we did, in fact, follow up and provide the solicitation 

package requested by Bank of America immediately upon 

returning the call. 

Q. All right.  So this is another Class 4B bank that 

didn't get its package because of the address snafu with the 

administrative agent.  Correct? 

A. That's correct. 

Q. All right.  Mr. Stein, how many Chapter 11 

solicitations have you run while you've been at Garden City? 

A. Somewhere around 65 right now. 

Q. And how many years have you been at Garden City? 

A. Closing in on seven. 

Q. Based on your experience was the number of inquiries 

received in connection with this voting procedure unusual? 

A. No, not at all. 

Q. Based on your experience was the number of follow up 

ballot mailing requests unusual in your experience? 
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A. No. 

Q. Based on your experience is there anything that -- 

based both on your experience and the evidence is there 

anything in the issues that have been raised by the Equity 

Committee that indicates the Court's solicitation procedures 

were not properly implemented here? 

A. No. 

  MR. MEYERHOFF:  I object to that one, Your Honor.  

That calls for a legal conclusion. 

  THE COURT:  I'll sustain it.  I think I've heard 

the witness's testimony. 

  MR. FOSTER:  Can you explain the basis for the 

legal conclusion argument?  I'm sorry, Your Honor. 

  THE COURT:  I think he's asked whether or not the 

order has been fully complied with. 

  MR. STEIN:  Yes. 

  THE COURT:  And I think he's testified that he did 

everything he believes he was obligated to do.  I think that 

that's sufficient.  The question of whether or not the order 

is complied with really is a question for me. 

  MR. FOSTER:  Okay.  All right.  Very good, Mr. 

Stein, thank you. 

  MR. STEIN:  Thank you. 

  THE COURT:  Okay.   

  MR. MEYERHOFF:  Your Honor, we need a few minutes 
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to confer before -- 

  THE COURT:  That's fine.  Five minutes? 

  MR. MEYERHOFF:  Sure. 

  THE COURT:  Stand in recess. 

(Recess from 1:27 p.m. to 1:44 p.m.) 

  THE CLERK:  All rise. 

  THE COURT:  Please be seated.  Ms. Machen? 

  MS. MACHEN:  Good morning or good afternoon, Your 

Honor. 

  THE COURT:  Good afternoon.  Mr. Stein, I would 

remind you, sir, that you remain under oath. 

  MR. STEIN:  Yes, sir. 

CROSS EXAMINATION 

BY MS. MACHEN:   

Q. Good afternoon, Mr. Stein. 

A. Good afternoon. 

Q. I just have a couple of questions for you.  I'm Monika 

Machen on behalf of the Official Committee of Equity 

Security Holders.  You testified earlier that you highly 

recommended that voters send in their packages by either 

overnight or hand delivery.  Is that correct? 

A. Well it was recommended in the ballot. 

Q. Yes, it was recommended in the balloting materials? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Did you include an envelope in the solicitation 
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package? 

A. We included an envelope in certain of the solicitation 

packages.  The solicitation packages that Broadridge sent 

out, they provided their own envelope obviously because it 

goes back to them. 

Q. Have you seen those envelopes that were provided by 

Broadridge? 

A. Yeah, I think I have, yes. 

Q. And are they marked with a prepaid postage stamp on 

them? 

A. I'm not sure. 

Q. If I were to tell you right now that that's the way 

Broadridge sends its materials to voters, would you disagree 

with that? 

A. No, I think so.  I think they do send them with 

postage. 

Q. So when voters get the package and it includes a 

prepaid postage stamped envelope, do you expect those 

parties to just disregard those envelopes? 

A. They do sometimes, yes, I mean, if they're -- it 

depends.  Financial institutions a lot of times and people 

that want to make sure it gets in, they do send it often 

times by overnight mail. 

Q. Okay. 

A. That is our experience. 
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  MS. MACHEN:  No further questions, Your Honor, 

thank you. 

  THE COURT:  Any redirect? 

  MR. FOSTER:  No questions, Your Honor. 

  THE COURT:  Thank you, sir, you may step down. 

  MR. STEIN:  Thank you. 

  MR. FOSTER:  Thanks, Jeff.  Your Honor, we rest on 

the voting issues.  It's our only evidence that we intend to 

offer. 

  MR. MEYERHOFF:  Your Honor, we weren't sure 

whether you wanted to take all of the debtors' evidence 

first on confirmation and then take our case in chief or 

deal with this issue right now. 

  THE COURT:  I think I'm prepared to move in 

series.  I think it would be appropriate to deal with the 

voting issues because I think the question of the voting 

issues governs the case that the debtor needs to put on.  I 

mean, in fairness to all parties, if the voting issues come 

out with all classes accepting, then confirmation of the 

plan is governed by 1129, the Section 1129(a).  If it comes 

out with either a substantial issue or without a confident 

determination that all classes have accepted, then we're 

talking about Section 1129(b) and the evidence and record 

that the debtors would need to establish is substantially 

different.  So I don't think that I should withhold on that.  
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I'm happy to take argument or if any additional witnesses on 

the voting issues that the parties may have, but I think 

that's the appropriate step. 

  MR. MEYERHOFF:  Okay.  Your Honor, in light of 

that, that makes sense.  Ms. Machen will speak to the 

evidence that we have and -- 

  THE COURT:  Okay. 

  MR. MEYERHOFF:  -- that will be our submission. 

  MR. FOSTER:  Well this is an evidentiary 

submission, right?  Or is this argument? 

  MS. MACHEN:  Well this is argument.  We've already 

-- I understand all of the exhibits have already been 

admitted.  We'll probably reference those as exhibits. 

  THE COURT:  All right.  You've walked -- okay.  

Let me make sure that I understand. 

  MS. MACHEN:  Sure. 

  THE COURT:  And again, this is a -- to -- for what 

it's worth and to the extent it provides any guidance to the 

parties, incorporating the dialogue that we had on this 

exercise yesterday, it seems that while this doesn't seem to 

involve the same confidentiality issues that we had 

yesterday, I think I embraced the process that was proposed 

by the Equity Committee that their documents be included and 

they had the preliminary materials that again I accepted not 

as part of the evidentiary record, but by way of argument.  
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And I afforded the parties an opportunity yesterday to deal 

and respond with them.  And I think, frankly, the way that 

we've sort of been turned around, but we're in the same 

place.  I think that what I have is that the debtor has 

essentially responded to those.  And what I gather is that 

you're going to walk me through that in greater -- or in 

detail and with the debtors -- I'm sorry, with the Equity 

Committee's position as it relates to Tab F, Items 1 through 

15.  Is that correct? 

  MS. MACHEN:  That's correct, Your Honor. 

  THE COURT:  Okay. 

  MS. MACHEN:  I intend to just have this be a 

larger statement with include -- and it will include my 

argument, as well as, walking you through the exhibits. 

  THE COURT:  All right.  Well let me ask a question 

-- 

  MS. MACHEN:  Sure. 

  THE COURT:  -- before we do that.  I'm happy to -- 

assuming that's okay with the debtors, I'm happy to allow 

you to proceed in that way.  And it would seem that where 

you're headed then would be that this would also include 

your argument and then the debtors then should be prepared 

to argue in response.  But before we do so, I'd want to 

confirm.  Mr. Foster, you confirmed that the debtors' 

evidence is closed in this respect.  Is that correct? 
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  MR. FOSTER:  Yes, Your Honor. 

  THE COURT:  Okay.  Is there any additional 

evidence before we sort of tee ourselves up for argument? 

(No audible response heard.) 

  THE COURT:  All right.  I appreciate -- I think 

that the evidentiary record then is substantially complete 

other than guidance that I'm going to get from you, Ms. 

Machen today.  And again, each of the items that is 

referenced has been admitted.  Okay? 

  MS. MACHEN:  Okay, thank you, Your Honor. 

  THE COURT:  Sure. 

  MS. MACHEN:  Your Honor, I just want to tell you 

the story of the balloting because I think that one of the 

things that's been missing is the context in which some of 

the concerns of the Equity Committee have been raised. 

  Over the course of the last few months, I have 

been in regular touch with about 12 to 15 shareholders.  

Seven of them are my own committee members, there are a 

handful of other credit -- excuse me, equity holders that 

we've kept in touch with and have given the progress reports 

on the case. 

  A week before the voting deadline, I contacted all 

of our committee members and reminded them to turn in their 

ballots.  I noted that the ballots were due by January 29 

and that was when the ballots had to be returned.  By which 
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date the ballots had to actually be returned to the voting 

agent. 

  Three of my committee members immediately 

contacted me and indicated that they had not received their 

ballots.  This was on January 21.  These are Trimaran, one 

of the largest shareholders of Accuride. 

  THE COURT:  And who were they going to be 

receiving their ballots from typically?  I want to make sure 

that I understood.  I listened to Mr. Stein and I heard his 

affidavit, but what I -- I want to make sure that I 

understand your understanding of how this process was 

supposed to move as it relates to equity and understanding 

that equity holders may hold obviously as beneficial holders 

or in street name. 

  MS. MACHEN:  Well, Your Honor, from the 

understanding of the shareholders, they just believed that 

they would receive them directly from the debtors or the 

debtors' agent.  So they did not necessarily understand that 

they were receiving them from an intermediary. 

  THE COURT:  Okay.  Okay. 

  MS. MACHEN:  That's my understanding, Your Honor. 

  THE COURT:  So that the way it was going to work -

- I understand what their expectation may have been but -- 

  MS. MACHEN:  Um-hum. 

  THE COURT:  -- the way it was going to work with 
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equity is that, I mean, the debtor doesn't know who the 

shareholders are, right?  And the shares are constantly 

moving. 

  MS. MACHEN:  Sure. 

  THE COURT:  And people are dealing with transfer 

agents and so at that point then it's incumbent upon 

frankly, I guess the balloting agent to get in touch with 

the appropriate transfer agent and I think the record 

reflects that there were only a handful of players that do 

this. 

  MS. MACHEN:  Right.   

  THE COURT:  And so basically all it was their 

clearing house.  And so then they would send the appropriate 

-- they would be advised of the appropriate number of 

ballots for the number of beneficial holders that they have.  

The agent, the balloting the agent would send that thousand 

ballots to Broadridge in this case who would then mail it 

out.  Because unless I'm mistaken, the debtor doesn't even 

have the right to know who holds the stock, right?  I mean, 

absent some proceeding under the Delaware General Corporate 

Law, right? 

  MS. MACHEN:  I believe that's correct, Your Honor. 

  THE COURT:  Okay.  So the things were going to 

come from and go through Broadridge. 

  MS. MACHEN:  Not always, but in some instances. 
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  THE COURT:  Sure. 

  MS. MACHEN:  And in a majority of instances 

apparently it does go through Broadridge. 

  THE COURT:  Right. 

  MS. MACHEN:  Now those -- that fact is not 

necessarily made clear in the debtors' solicitation 

materials, it just provides that the materials will be 

delivered to the ultimate beneficial holder either directly 

by Garden City or by an, excuse me, intermediary record 

holder.  As far as our shareholders on our committee were 

concerned, they just expected a package.   

  So on January 21, I received information that 

three of my committee members hadn't received anything.  

This was Trimaran, one of the largest shareholders, Albion 

Investors who's a smaller institutional shareholder, and Tom 

Logan who is an individual investor.  We worked with the 

debtors in Garden City to get them their ballots before the 

29th.  And as explained in each of the declarations of each 

of these parties, they're attached at Exhibit 7, 10, and 11, 

each of these individuals and organizations had some problem 

with the manner in which the materials were ultimately sent 

to them.   

  THE COURT:  Okay. 

  MS. MACHEN:  Okay.  From discovery that we sent to 

Garden City, we also learned that a number of other key 
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parties did not get ballots.  At Tab 9, F9 in our materials, 

you'll see that Garden City was sending ballots to certain 

key parties in the week before the balloting deadline. 

  THE COURT:  Okay. 

  MS. MACHEN:  There were also concerns raised by 

voters that the claims agent had not been responsive.  Those 

included some contacts by Trimaran to Garden City in which 

they wanted some further instructions on how to vote their 

ballots.  They had apparently received only one ballot even 

though they had five different entities for whom they were 

casting votes.  Trimaran as it testifies in its affidavit, 

indicates that Garden City was not responsive to them. 

  This backdrop explains our heightened concern 

about the voting.  Once we learned that that preliminary 

ballots had come back showing that our class had voted to 

accept the plan, we reached out to shareholders to confirm 

that they had sent out their votes.  And to the extent that 

they were willing, to share confidential information 

regarding their accounts and holdings with us.  We also 

served discovery on the debtors and Garden City so that we 

could compare the shareholder information against the 

debtors' information. 

  And, Your Honor, I just want to remind you that a 

lot of this was happening in the week prior to February 10 

so there was obviously a lot going on with the Equity 



 43

 
1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

Committee and the debtors. 

  Because of the time pressure that we were under, 

we worked through the debtors and Garden City.  We sent them 

the information that we had asked them to verify and to see 

whether the actual ballots had been received and counted.  

It turned out that in some instances a voter had incorrectly 

listed their shares or was just recorded differently than 

what we had believed.  The debtors have accused us of being 

too quick to jump to conclusions.  But given the fact that 

we knew that key parties in the case had not received 

ballots, we were very concerned that there might have been 

other shareholders who were in similar position.  And as you 

understand, can understand, Your Honor, the importance of 

this class vote which is what is being played out today was 

a very significant concern for us.   

  The debtors have also accused us of sending them 

an email in which we indicated that ballots had been sent to 

Garden City which I understand is located in New York.  

When, in fact, the voting materials were sent to an address 

in Farmingdale, New York, a twin entity called Proxy 

Services.   

  The debtors criticize us for not paying enough 

attention to the details.  I do note that the solicitation 

materials actually do not have any address listed for 

Broadridge.  They don't indicate that it's located in the 
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Farmingdale and there was no reason at the time that we were 

doing this investigation for us to have necessarily 

concluded that Broadridge was the entity that was getting 

the materials. 

  THE COURT:  Let me ask a question about practice. 

  MS. MACHEN:  Sure. 

  THE COURT:  Is it your contention that it is 

customary or that it would have been preferable even that 

the debtor include transfer agent information in its 

solicitation materials? 

  MS. MACHEN:  Well I think certainly with respect 

to this back and forth that we've engaged in with the debtor 

where they have come back to us and criticized us for not 

paying enough attention to the details, certainly it would 

have answered some of our questions.  Certainly, would have 

helped us get a little further in the discovery process if 

we had known that Broadridge was, in fact, the intermediary.  

We actually did not learn that Broadridge was the 

intermediary until probably a little bit after February 1.  

So I think that certainly having that material in the 

solicitation packet would have helped inform us as to how 

the votes were being sent out.   

  You have to understand, Your Honor, we also as the 

Equity Committee do not have access to the information that 

the debtors have even if it is limited.  We certainly did 
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not have that at our fingertips as we began the 

investigation. 

  THE COURT:  I understand. 

  MS. MACHEN:  So we submit to you, Your Honor, that 

our misunderstanding was wholly understandable.  Among our 

15 contacts -- 

  MR. HELLER:  May I have a minute, Your Honor, 

please? 

  THE COURT:  Mr. Heller, yeah. 

  MR. HELLER:  May I have a moment of your time?  

Thank you, Your Honor.  Thank you, Ms. Machen? 

  MS. MACHEN:  Yeah. 

  THE COURT:  Sure. 

  MS. MACHEN:  Mr. Heller has advised me that we had 

a discussion with certain Garden City members at sometime 

prior to February 5, discussing the process by which the 

ballots were sent to the final holders.  Your Honor, I 

recall a conversation.  I just at this point cannot remember 

if it was -- 

  THE COURT:  Okay.  Well I mean -- 

  MS. MACHEN:  -- prior to this.  But in any event 

let me -- 

  THE COURT:  We are where we are. 

  MS. MACHEN:  Yes.  Let me move forward.  Among our 

15 contacts, we did find two voters who had ballots that 
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were never counted.  Both of these voters' affidavits are at 

Tabs 1 and 3.  Both stated that they timely returned their 

ballots in the pre-stamped envelopes that were provided to 

them with their ballots.  Neither Garden City nor Broadridge 

can find these ballots. 

  I know that the debtors' position is so what.  The 

parties who didn't get their ballots originally ultimately 

got them, no harm, no foul.  They've also offered to count 

the ballots that we have shown as not counted.  We think 

that this misses the point.  The point is not whether we 

caught every missed ballot because that's not possible, we 

can't prove a negative or that we somehow confirmed that 

every party that didn't get a ballot eventually got one.  We 

simply can't do that.  The point is that where classes' 

right to object to this plan could be implicated and, in 

fact, this whole case hinges, may hinge on whether or not 

our class actually voted for this plan.  We submit that 

those who control the solicitation process must ensure that 

every party has a fair opportunity to vote.  We don't think 

that the debtors have carried this burden.   

  One final point that I want to raise is that the 

parties have argued that Class 10 has overwhelmingly voted 

in favor of this plan.  And that's correct if you look at 

just the total share count.  While I understand that 1126(d) 

does not have a numerocity requirement, and I'm very 
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saddened by that fact, I do want you to be aware that if you 

look at the tally attached to Mr. Stein's declaration, you'd 

see that 58 shareholders voted to accept the plan while 184 

shareholders rejected the plan.  So even though there was a 

deathtrap provision in the plan, over three times as many 

shareholders decided to roll the dice as to their 

distribution.  I think that's very telling, Your Honor, and 

I hope that you'll take that into account when you consider 

the impact of the voting. 

  THE COURT:  I understand. 

  MS. MACHEN:  Thank you, Your Honor. 

  MR. HELLER:  Your Honor, you've heard the evidence 

and I think it's overwhelming.  I rise only to react to two 

comments.   

  One, that the debtors' response has been so what. 

I can't tell you the estate resources that have been spent 

on putting on the evidence before you.  And on January 5, we 

walked Ms. Machen through this, Ms. Machen through this 

procedure in a call to which Ms. Reckler and the claims 

agent would testify.  We are where we are and I really don't 

want to go there, but as I intimated yesterday, Your Honor, 

it's starting to approach too much.   

  THE COURT:  Okay.  Anyone else? 

(No audible response heard.) 

  THE COURT:  Okay.  I will deal with that matter as 
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part of the confirmation hearing that is presently under 

way.  It's not a motion before me relating to the balloting, 

but I am going to approve the balloting as submitted and as 

identified in Mr. Stein's affidavit and I will not either 

question, reopen, or invalidate the balloting that's before 

me.   

  And let me make some observations and then I will 

walk through the evidence.  I have had an opportunity to 

carefully consider the evidence as it's been presented.  And 

I believe that both as a matter of law and as a matter of 

evidence, the debtors have carried their burden with respect 

to establishing that the balloting and the solicitation 

process has been conducted in good faith and consistent with 

the provisions of the order.   

  I note and make a specific point that there is no 

allegation raised with respect to the good faith of any 

party and particularly, and most importantly with respect to 

the good faith and integrity of the Court's balloting agent 

appointed pursuant to 28 USC Section 156(c).  I have 

listened to Mr. Stein's testimony.  I am familiar with this 

firm.  And I am confident that it was conducted 

appropriately.   

  Let me make another observation.  And this goes to 

the concerns and issues with respect to balloting.  I am in 

perhaps an unusually good position to evaluate this dispute.  
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It was from the very earliest point in my professional 

career frankly, appearing often in this room as a very, very 

young associate, these cases were staffed as I look out, 

these cases were staffed much more leanly than -- 

(Laughter) 

  THE COURT:  -- they were.  And it's -- I speak 

only anecdotally other than to say that in, frankly, more 

cases, many, many more cases than Mr. Stein described, I 

served as the Sherpa or whatever word you want, shepherding 

through debtors through their confirmation and balloting 

processes.  This process is by definition not perfect.  It's 

not perfect when you try to run a presidential election in 

Florida.  It's not perfect when you try to run an election 

in Iraq.  And the democratic process as Secretary Rumsfeld 

said is sometimes messy.   

  I make these comments not to minimize the 

importance of the process and I appreciate the efforts that 

the Equity Committee has gone to identify their concerns and 

to ensure that their constituents are properly represented 

and that their interests are frankly heard today.  But I am 

satisfied that notwithstanding the concerns that have been 

identified that this has been conducted in a manner that is 

both appropriate and, frankly, consistent with my 

experience.  The issues that have been identified are those 

that I have heard in my professional career, many, many, 
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many times.   

  The process of balloting and voting for equity 

security holders is by definition complicated.  Mailings 

have to get from one person, to another person, to another 

person back and back again.  And the fact of the matter is 

that sometimes things go amiss and sometimes things go awry.  

And again, that doesn't minimize the importance of the 

process, but there is nothing in this that gives rise to a 

concern in my mind that would invalidate the voting.  And 

that is what -- in addition to considering or after 

considering all of the evidentiary submissions and Mr. 

Stein's testimony. 

  In addition, while it's not dispositive, the fact 

is that even those areas that have been identified, those 

ballots that have been identified as being at least 

questionable, don't come near to undoing the vote.  And so 

there is some materiality question that I think factors into 

the Court's analysis of this. 

  So based upon the record before me and again, 

considering each of the submissions tabbed at F1 through 15, 

it does seem to me that I am satisfied that the voting was 

carried out consistent with this Court's Order and that the 

voting is appropriate and accurate.  And that based upon the 

record before me and Mr. Stein's affidavit which has been 

admitted into evidence, each of the classes entitled to vote 
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on the plan has voted on the plan to accept the plan.  Okay?  

  That does not dispose obviously of the Section 

1129(a) confirmation standards, but I do believe that this 

confirmation is governed by Section 1129.  I'm sorry, 

Section 1129(a).  We have dealt with the voting.  That is 

only one component of the debtors' evidentiary obligation.  

And we will turn to plan confirmation.  We will take a break 

that will be a legitimate five minutes right now but -- and 

then we will return to the evidentiary record with respect 

to plan confirmation.  Stand in recess.   

  MR. HELLER:  Thank you, Your Honor. 

(Recess from 2:07 p.m. to 2:19 p.m.) 

  THE CLERK:  All rise. 

  THE COURT:  Please be seated. 

  MR. HELLER:  I'm sorry, Your Honor.  Your Honor, 

thank you very much.  If I may, I'd like to take a moment 

just to suggest how the debtor would like to proceed. 

  THE COURT:  Very well. 

  MR. HELLER:  We still have the Motion in Limine 

and I'd like to share with the Court and move the Court to 

accept my oral joinder in the Motion in Limine.  And I can 

briefly explain why we joined.  But we'd like to hear the 

Motion in Limine next.  And I do have some argument in 

relation to the Motion in Limine and how we go forward.  And 

I take the liberty of saying all this because I do know what 
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the evidence is going to be and there have been massive 

submissions.   

  So if Your Honor would allow, what I'd like to do 

is explain our joinder in the Motion in Limine because 

there's a thoughtful basis for it, the decision was made 

this morning.  And then to suggest to Your Honor where we 

are and where I think the evidence will take us and how we 

think it's most efficient for state resources to be spent 

proceeding.  Because we are not only a fiduciary, we've been 

reminded we're the constituents, but I think at this point, 

based on Your Honor's rulings to this point, we are now not 

only not fiduciaries acting outside of the fiduciary duty, 

we now have a mandate from every class to proceed to 

confirmation expeditiously.  So from where we sit, one of 

the fiduciary duties we now have is to begin to preserve 

assets.  And I know Your Honor said it in the kindest 

possible way, but the burn rate here is starting to melt.  

So we'd like to proceed expeditiously. 

  THE COURT:  I understand, okay.   

  MR. HELLER:  Your Honor, if you accept as a notion 

now that we have rulings finding that each class voted in 

favor and I think it was in the very high 90's in every 

class except the equity and that was 71 percent.  We now 

have much in common as we always have for the Equity 

Committee.  And that is that the debtor and its 
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professionals like the Equity Committee are fiduciaries.  

The difference is we're listening to our constituents.   

  You saw I thought a very thoughtful pleading from 

Millbank on behalf of the bonds with some precedent about 

committees acting inconsistent with the vote of their 

constituents.  I was slow to join in those pleadings or in 

that position mostly because the issue of the propriety of 

the process we ran, today's testimony or my belief that Sun 

had done nothing wrong had not yet been vindicated.  But 

having had those two pieces vindicated, we now have what I 

would suggest is a committee almost without portfolio and 

professionals who I respectfully put on notice, we believe 

are wasting assets in the tremendous burden that's being 

absorbed by this estate, in proceeding with things like 

proving legitimacy of our voting process.  So we're very, 

very concerned about that. 

  Now where does that take us?  I guess we might 

give them every conceivable benefit of the doubt and say 

well they're still trying to stop the process that isn't 

righteous.  And I'd like to speak to that next. 

  I reread every one of their pleadings last night 

trying to fair it out, the theory with which I'm now 

dealing.  And giving every benefit of the doubt to their 

pleadings to date, here's what I could come up with.  One, 

this debtor is continuing to breach its fiduciary duty.  
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It's ongoing.  It is a matter of law, Your Honor, I believe 

almost per se not the case that there's a breach of 

fiduciary duty when a debtor properly polls each and every 

one of its constituents.  It is then determined that each 

and every one of those constituents supports its course of 

conduct and then proceeds with that course of conduct.  You 

would have the remarkable result in this case of finding 

that this debtor acted in bad faith after it solicited and 

balloted all of its constituents.   

  Now giving every deference I could to the Equity 

Committee, I tried to fair out the theory.  And here's the 

only one that hunted for me.  Well that's because this 

debtor has acted in bad faith and mislead all of these 

voters.  But here's the problem with that.  At the 

confirmation hearing, Ms. Machen on behalf of that same 

constituency says I want to thank the debtors for 

cooperating with us. 

  THE COURT:  At the disclosure hearing. 

  MR. HELLER:  At the disclosure hearing.  Did I 

misspeak, I'm sorry. 

  THE COURT:  Yeah, disclosure statement -- 

  MR. HELLER:  At the disclosure hearing.  I want to 

thank the debtors for cooperating with us.  We had a very 

productive discussion.  "In the last half hour or so, they 

had had accepted all of our comments."  Now these weren't 
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piddling grammatical comments.  This was the letter from the 

committee to the constituents saying reject this valuation, 

we have information that suggests they're way off on 

valuation, vote against the plan.  And they didn't take any 

of our comments on their letter because we didn't offer any.  

Our position was that they could communicate with their 

constituents any way they wanted.  And they understandably 

and quite properly took us up on that and included a letter 

to their constituents and that letter notwithstanding with 

or without Sun there was real support for this plan and when 

you include Sun, 71 percent of the shares that received the 

best disclosure that this committee could muster, the equity 

committee, still supported the debtors' plan.   

  Now there might some insinuation, well that's 

because if they voted against it, they'd lose what they got.  

Well I guess there's two ways to think about that.  One is 

it was a death trap.  And the other is people said, you know 

what, I don't want to lose what I'm being offered.  I really 

don't know what was in anybody's mind.  All I know is that 

in a properly conducted process with none of the offensive 

kind of death trap provisions that you've seen in other 

cases, which are not present here, the equity still voted in 

favor of the plan.  So the idea that we pulled the rug over 

somebody, the wool over somebody's eyes doesn't hunt either.   

  Now the last allegation that I could come up with 
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is that we're rushing through the case with reverse 

engineering and the worst.  You know, I become fond of the 

phrase reverse engineering and I kid Mr. Shinder mercilessly 

about it.  But what you've also seen in this case is 

valuation in reverse.  The Equity Committee went out and got 

appointed on a billion dollar valuation.  Then it came in in 

the 8's.  And then here's the evidence I know is coming.   

  There's one witness in this case, Your Honor, that 

I tell you is so forthcoming and intelligent, Mr. White.  

And he was -- he testified Tuesday with candor as he always 

does that this proposal, this ultimate plan that we're being 

accused of ignoring in breach of our fiduciary duty has a 

total enterprise value of $700 million implied in it.  That 

evidence came from Mr. White.  Unfortunately, it wasn't 

elicited by me.  But the evidence in this case is that 

however Mr. Shinder got there and I think he's been really 

treated very harshly, but however Mr. Shinder got there, the 

debtors' decision has been vindicated, once by the vote of 

its constituents and yet again by the best offer they could 

come up with.   

  So, Your Honor, that was the third element of what 

we were doing wrong here is not taking them seriously.  

That's the so called Ahab proposal about which you've heard 

so much.  A proposal that is imbedded, imbedded in that 

proposal is a $700 million valuation which does not clear 
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the $712 or $718 million hurdle necessary in this case to 

pay the bonds in full.   

  Now remember, Judge, under 1129(a), the cases are 

really compelling, not even close, that you don't have to be 

right about valuation.  In fact, valuation is irrelevant.  

So what we're left with now is the Equity Committee being 

required to put on the one missing element that we acted in 

bad faith.  Mr. Shinder's actions have been vindicated not 

once, but twice.  Once by the vote, and then by the best 

market offer the Equity Committee could come up with.   

  So that then takes you to this whole issue, Your 

Honor of the financier.  You know, yesterday, Your Honor, 

you brought the courtroom down when you referred to the 

shot.  And I've told you more than once I'm from Chicago so 

for me the shot is Jordan over Elo in the Cleveland game.  

But, you know, the shot was for -- 

  THE COURT:  He should have stayed retired. 

(Laughter) 

  MR. HELLER:  Your Honor, the -- stipulated.  The -

- Your Honor, the import of the shot was as follows.  You've 

heard our colloquy yesterday, there was an objection.  Mr. 

Shinder can't possibly know what's in the lender's minds.  

Your Honor, the financier has yet to appear.  And we've 

played this little cat and mouse game, this lawyer's game, 

it's not a real world game, will they or won't they?  So I 
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finally called the financier to find out they're not coming.  

And, Your Honor, you already have at the pre-snow day 

hearing this testimony from Mr. White that the financier 

doesn't provide any more money than we already have.  That 

the financier doesn't add any value.  That the financier is 

talking about a financing package that's more expensive than 

the one we have.   

  And I'm really getting a little tired of hearing, 

Your Honor, because I have feelings too, that we shut them 

down and it took Your Honor to order us to let them back in.  

Your Honor, the financier was terrific.  They've been very 

gracious.  I've got two emails from them thanking the debtor 

for their unmitigated cooperation.  We would have let them 

keep going, except we thought we were wasting their time.  

And when Your Honor said we're not going to be here on the 

snow day, they want to keep going, let them keep going, we 

again totally cooperated.  And I know what the evidence is 

going to be.  It's going to be nothing from the financier, 

nothing.  We will again present the current evidence that 

they offer us, nothing that we need as Mr. White originally 

testified to his credit.  And it is not on better terms than 

we have.   

  So we're back now, Judge to what's going in the 

case.  Well what's going on in the case is that the bond 

holders are, in effect, financing the company coming out of 
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bankruptcy.  And the last complaint, good faith or bad faith 

is this.  That's not fair value.  Well, that's an 1129(b) 

issue. 

  Now, Your Honor, given my opening concern about 

preserving the value of the estate and the burn rate, I'd 

like to do something I learned in this case which is to at 

the appropriate time, either hand up to you or share with 

you my top ten list of great evidence in support of good 

faith.  Not that you don't have enough already.  And we've 

gone through all their cases and we're happy to distinguish 

them.  Not that we haven't already.   

  But the bottom line, Judge is that when you look 

around your desk in those binders, I respectfully submit and 

ask for guidance as to whether or not we've made a prima 

facie case of good faith.  I think we have.  And I'm 

prepared to take time and energy, whatever Your Honor will 

permit, to cut through that as rapidly as I can, but I don't 

think there can be any doubt that we've made a good faith 

prima facie case whereupon the burden shifts to the Equity 

Committee.  To the extent it wants to proceed 

notwithstanding the directions of 71 percent of those folks 

who voted to show that we were in bad faith and by 

prevailing, by prevailing take away the value that has been 

gifted to their constituents.   

  And I don't know how they're going to prove bad 



 60

 
1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

faith.  I don't think Jeffries is going to take the stand 

and say my brother professional acted in bad faith.  That's 

just not the way they're put together.  I don't know of any 

other witness that's been identified.  So they're going to 

drill Mr. Shinder again.  And I guess, Your Honor we're 

going to have to see how far they can go before we have that 

Perry Mason moment.  But I know as you would expect me to 

know, that Mr. Shinder is going to persist in saying that he 

acted in good faith.  That the debtor acted in good faith.  

That the Special Committee acted in good faith.  That the 

voting was in good faith.  That the solicitation was in good 

faith.  That our disclosures and processes throughout this 

case in which there was not a discovery dispute was in good 

faith.  That our willingness to include their letter saying 

we were wrong was in good faith and on, and on, and on.   

  So, Your Honor, yesterday I heard something 

remarkable.  Ms. Machen said Your Honor, we've been trying 

to settle.  We want to get this done, et cetera.  Your 

Honor, you can't create leverage by costing the estate 

millions of dollars.  That's just not right.  And I'm 

increasingly concerned that that's what's going on here.  

And we will proceed for as long and in whatever manner Your 

Honor rules, but I'm serving respectful notice that we 

believe estate assets are being wasted by a fiduciary. 

  THE COURT:  Okay.  Any response?  Well actually, I 
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think I probably ought to hear from the movant on the motion 

for -- for the Motion in Limine.  But I think that's what I 

heard. 

  MR. HELLER:  Please, Your Honor, thank you. 

  MR. PERRY:  Your Honor, Dan Perry for the record 

from Millbank Tweed on behalf of the Ad Hoc Group.   

  We don't have anything to add to Mr. Heller's 

comments.  I saw Mr. Reisner rising and I'll cede the podium 

to him unless you have any questions. 

  THE COURT:  Okay.  No, I have no questions. 

  MR. PERRY:  Thank you, Your Honor. 

  MR. REISNER:  Thank you, Your Honor.  Jeffrey 

Reisner, Irell & Manella for the Creditors' Committee.  Your 

Honor, the Committee did formally join in the Motion in 

Limine for the reasons set forth in the Committees' papers 

which are a little bit different than the Motion in Limine 

itself.   

  The Committee remains very concerned about the 

possible loss of value from retracted proceedings.  That is 

not to say, Your Honor, we are not very thankful for the 

Court for the time and indulgence, but we don't want to 

squander them.   

  Yesterday, we spent many, many hours contemplating 

the good faith of the debtor and proposing a plan.  And the 

Court concluded that the mechanics outlined and utilized for 
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in accordance with Delaware Law and in good faith.  These 

included shopping the transaction, evaluating the 

transaction through a special committee, excluding Sun from 

the committee, retaining Perella and other qualified 

advisors to help guide the debtors, negotiating for a 

fiduciary out, pushing very hard against Sun's below market 

offers, fighting hard in negotiations for equity, and 

considering up until the day before we started this hearing, 

the several proposals received from the Equity Committee 

after the case commenced.  I'm not going to go through them 

all, but there are no less than 10 pages in our brief laying 

out examples, excuse me, of good faith. 

  In light of the overwhelmingly positive vote for 

the plan by all classes, this Court is no longer legally 

permitted to even consider 1129(b).  This prohibition 

includes consideration of the fair and equitable test that 

is embodied in 1129(b).  To the extent not already disposed 

of, the primary test at issue here is the good faith of the 

debtor in proposing the plan.  Notably, it is not the value 

of the company nor even Perella's good faith in supporting 

the plan and its treatment.  This is not about Perella.  

This is not about value.  This is not about treatment.  In 

order to consider the debtors' good faith, the focus is on 

process.  And again, the Court spent hours yesterday on 

process.   
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  The relevance of value in valuation is incredibly 

limited in this context.  The question is whether value was 

arrived at in a procedurally proper way to the extent it's 

even implicated in the plan.  Whether it was determined by a 

competent process.  In this case it was.  A competent 

process with a competent professional and he used it in a 

manner consistent in the debtors' plan with that third party 

determination.  We would have potentially a different 

outcome if the debtor ignored what it was being told by its 

professionals, but it didn't. 

  The Court need not conclude that Mr. Shinder's 

value is correct.  He could be wrong.  It all depends on 

what debtor did with the information.  It may only conclude 

that the debtor acted in good faith in proposing the plan.  

And all the evidence the Court needs is already in the 

record.   

  Given that the debt totals more than $700 million 

which is undisputed and Mr. Shinder concluded that the 

company has a value of around $563 million, the company 

acted in good faith in proposing a plan that provides most 

of the equity to unsecured creditors.  And despite the 

shortfall in value, provides 2 percent of the equity and 15 

percent warrants to shareholders.  In fact, if there -- if 

anyone should be making an allegation of impropriety given 

those numbers, it should be unsecured creditors.  And just 
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in case the value increases over time to the up side during 

the next few years, the warrants will be in the money.  They 

may be in the money now, I don't know, and value will shift.  

So there's a hedge there.  You've been handed a hedge just 

in case.  

  In short, there is no relevance of value to this 

proceeding given the voting and applicability of 1129(b).  

Even the interest holders support the plan.  And they were 

provided with both the debtors and the Equity Committee's 

valuation estimates.  The process was proper.  Options were 

evaluated.  Corporate formalities were observed.  

Professionals were consulted.  And the debtor acted to 

provide a return to equity despite being wildly out of the 

money based on the data it had.  No alternatives were pushed 

aside as you heard in the last rounds of testimony from both 

Jeffries and from Mr. Shinder. 

  As the fair and equitable test in 1129(b) are no 

longer before this Court, and every tangential relationship 

that I can think of between good faith under 1129(a)(3) and 

value has been fully explored, there simply is no reason to 

risk further damage and expense to this company and the 

resources of this Court to consider further valuation 

testimony at this time.   

  Consequently, Your Honor, with all due respect, 

the Creditors' Committee requests that you grant the Motion 
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in Limine.  Thank you. 

  THE COURT:  Anyone else in support?  All right, 

Mr. Richards? 

  MR. RICHARDS:  Good afternoon.  Some people sound 

like they're going to their close and I'm going to limit my 

comments to the motion before us which is the Motion in 

Limine and not go beyond the Motion in Limine. 

  THE COURT:  Okay. 

  MR. RICHARDS:  As we point out in our response, 

this is bench trial and we cite cases that where there's a 

bench trial and obviously, Your Honor's very sophisticated.  

There's really not a risk of prejudice or confusion by 

allowing some facts in as we saw yesterday.  You allowed 

some facts in and then you decide what weight to give them.  

So from an evidentiary matter, there's really not a risk of 

prejudice.  And despite some of the aspersions, I think we 

have gone very carefully to try to be efficient and focus 

and that's why we did the, you know, the stipulated 

deposition records.  That's why we did the agreed exhibits.  

And frankly, in our testimony on valuation, you know, we 

would try to be focused both with Mr. Shinder's remaining 

cross and with our direct.  This is -- 

  THE COURT:  Well regardless of -- or accepting 

that I'm -- that I can evaluate the evidence -- 

  MR. RICHARDS:  Right. 



 66

 
1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

  THE COURT:  -- and I agree with you that case law 

clearly indicates that the bench trial nature gives a good 

deal more flexibility, but the question I think and you're 

right, I think you were hearing some closings.  But one of 

their points is where would that evidence take us? 

  MR. RICHARDS:  Let me -- 

  THE COURT:  And I guess -- 

  MR. RICHARDS:  Okay. 

  THE COURT:  Okay.  Because I have already ruled 

that this is a proceeding governed under Section 1129(a). 

  MR. RICHARDS:  Right. 

  THE COURT:  Okay. 

  MR. RICHARDS:  All right.  Let me go through -- 

that was where I was going to go next in a minute so let me 

go through that as part of my presentation. 

  THE COURT:  Sure. 

  MR. RICHARDS:  The case law is also clear that you 

need to act on a fully informed basis and that you need to 

independently assess each of the elements regardless of 

whether there's objection or not.   

  I'm going to go through the elements, but first of 

all, I want to read from the proposed findings a couple of 

their findings just so you realize what they're asking Your 

Honor to find.  MM valuation.  The reorganized debtors' 

valuation analysis attached as Exhibit E to the Disclosure 
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Statement and the estimated enterprise value as described 

therein is reasonable, proposed in good faith, and supported 

by the confirmation declarations in the evidence presented 

at the confirmation hearing.   

  So unless they're changing their findings of fact, 

they're asking you to find that Mr. Shinder's number is 

reasonable in their proposed findings of fact. 

  Likewise, finding of fact B, and I won't read the 

whole thing, but it's the plan proposed in good faith.  They 

have very extensive findings including acting in good faith 

with a negotiating and formulation of the plan and the 

nature of the negotiations.  They have a lot of specific 

findings they're asking for in good faith.  I respectfully 

submit that that needs to be examined on cross examination 

and that the record isn't clear yet and that just 

declarations without cross examination aren't a basis for 

this Court to make those findings. 

  Now let's go through why we think valuation is 

still relevant.  We have three objections in the plan 

primarily.  One is (a)(3) good faith, which is separate from 

(a)(8) and also (a)(1) primarily as it relates to the 

releases.  (a)(3) has two things that is their burden to 

prove.  One is good faith and the second and they glossed 

over this is compliance for law.  And that's a separate and 

independent requirement within (a)(3).  They need to prove 
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both of those things.   

  As we mentioned yesterday under Gui Halov [ph], if 

they're solvent and we believe that they are solvent, 

regardless of whether they think they're solvent, if they 

are solvent, their primary duty and the Delaware Supreme 

Court has told us is to shareholders.  And when they talk 

about, you know, they've got their lock up until April.  

When they talk about well maybe the alternative financier's 

interest rate isn't better than the interest rate they’re 

getting on the exit.   

  There's one major, major difference between what 

we want and what they want and that's the massive dilution 

of our constituency where we're only getting 0.6 on a 

diluted basis of the primary equity and we're getting 

warrants which we haven't fully addressed yet at a strike 

price of $2.15 which when you hear the evidence are 

virtually worthless for the two year term.  And that hasn't 

been approved yet, that's just up.   

  But, you know, the reason we're fighting this so 

hard is because we think that both of those are massively 

unfair if we're solvent and if they, especially when they 

have a lock up to April, shouldn't be pushing that.  I 

understand management would like to get out.  I understand 

it might be easier for them to operate out, but it comes a 

very, very heavy price to our constituency in that massive 



 69

 
1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

dilution in their proposed settlement on the strike price.  

Because $2.15 vs. .95 makes a ton of difference.  And when 

we get to that motion, we'll explain exactly how much of a 

difference that makes for a two year warrant. 

  I think you began to hear some of the evidence 

that Perella and you can call it whatever you want, it 

wasn't illustrative, it was just a rough discounted cash 

flow analysis and you get it repeatedly and repeatedly and 

you saw it yesterday, showed it was in the money.  The 

Special Committee members acted like it's in the money.  All 

of a sudden they want to say well that changed when we 

filed.  Where is that evidence?  We need to go through that.  

And it's not just us saying we're in the money, you've got 

Perella and the Special Committee saying they were in money 

repeatedly from presentations from June to October of 2009.   

  So now taking the position it's a gift and we're 

way out of the money, it's not consistent with their own 

position.  Frankly, we need a full record on that and we've 

got further cross examination on that.  We don't do the 

reverse engineering lightly, but we really think that there 

is substantially evidence there. 

  You have -- you've heard some aspersions about the 

alternative financing.  You haven't heard that it can't 

close in March or that they're not capable.  And we think 

and we'll put on some evidence that it can close in March 
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and they're -- and that it is very doable.  And the key 

difference is the lack of dilution.   

  (a)(1) is also implicated because there's a 

fiduciary duty to shareholders.  They're looking for 

releases and exculpations on all of that.  And when you look 

at their plan release provision, it really goes beyond the 

law of this jurisdiction because they're affirmatively 

having every shareholder and every creditor with no opt out, 

no opt in, release their individual causes of action.  Not 

only the estate's cause of action which maybe they just made 

a business determination to give up, but you're forcing 

every shareholder regardless if they voted or regardless if 

they voted for the plan, to opt out.   

  And on the ballot, you didn't even bother to tell 

them that they were giving a release.  And that may fly in 

some other jurisdictions, but I think the law in our brief's 

pretty clear that you can't force an involuntary individual 

release on this jurisdiction.  And I think, frankly, you 

need to hear the potential causes of action there.  

Obviously, you've ruled on 1129(b).  If we can't resolve 

this, you know, some of this may help us preserve the 

record, but we're really going to focus on 1129(a)(3).   

  I wanted to address briefly the alleged breach of 

fiduciary duty.  When you look at the cases Central Medical 

the Court specifically ruled that the Bond Holder Committee 
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still had standing even though there is a class vote against 

them.   

  In Kara, you had the Creditors' Committee 

proposing a plan trying to cram down their own constituency 

not fighting the debtors' plan.   

  In Adelphia, the Court specifically found and it 

needed evidence to do that, that the Equity Committee was 

way out of the money.  There's not the complete record here 

in Adelphia yet like Adelphia defined that were way out of 

the money. 

  We plan to do a focus presentation and, you know, 

not waste unduly the Court's time, but we think there is 

some further important evidence to hear on this.  We think 

there's considerable prejudice if you keep it out.  We 

frankly, think there's no prejudice if you keep it in.  And 

we think that it's appropriate to be fully informed to hear 

it.  And we don't think you can make the findings they want 

you to make if you don't.  Thank you. 

  THE COURT:  Let me ask a question though.  Back to 

this issue of your committee's role.  Based upon my rulings 

that the holders of interest in Class 10 have accepted, 

there is the proposition raised in the Ad Hoc Committee's 

objection that the Committee should be foreclosed or its 

right to prosecute an objection that its constituents have 

accepted, to a plan that its constituents is either 
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curtailed or as a matter of logic, I mean, we get into a 

difficult patch to think through.   

  I mean, let's play this out.  Suppose that your 

committee vigorously pursues its objection for -- on 

whatever grounds.  And that I for whatever reason sustain 

the objection and the plan is not confirmed and then we're 

back to the drawing board, right?  Okay? 

  MR. RICHARDS:  Well, yeah, I mean -- 

  THE COURT:  Hang on. 

  MR. RICHARDS:  Yeah, okay. 

  THE COURT:  All right.  So I tell Mr. Heller you 

can go back to the drawing board or you can move to the 

appointed trustee or whatever.  And everything goes south 

and six months from now another plan is confirmed that has a 

partial distribution to the Ad Hoc.  Based upon the 

wallowing in bankruptcy for a year of this company its 

valuation is miles below where equity would be and there is 

not distribution available to equity.  At that point, and 

again, just taking that string out, there has been a 

distribution that was in hand for equity. 

  MR. RICHARDS:  Um-hum. 

  THE COURT:  That I have ruled equity has accepted.  

And that their Court -- pardon me, Court appointed fiduciary 

has precluded, okay.  Where does that leave you? 

  MR. RICHARDS:  Well first of all -- 
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  THE COURT:  Your firm -- 

  MR. RICHARDS:  Um-hum. 

  THE COURT:  -- and the members of the Equity 

Committee. 

  MR. RICHARDS:  Well, first of all, you know, I -- 

we're cognizant of the entire equity body.  You know, 

obviously we're governed by our committee and how our 

committee votes.  As I mentioned yesterday, you know, we 

have kept our committee in the loop on this.  We think that 

at this level of recovery especially when you hear what the 

warrants are worth, that it is so small that our committee 

on its present configuration is firmly against it. 

  In terms of your nightmare scenario and a freefall 

-- 

  THE COURT:  And it's obviously -- right. 

  MR. RICHARDS:  We've -- yeah -- 

  THE COURT:  I've given you facts that are 

difficult to -- 

  MR. RICHARDS:  Here's the scenario we think is 

more likely and we kind of previewed this in our paper.  

Valuation is all set to try.  Mr. Heller has re-said 

repeatedly we're ready to go.  Let's say that you agreed 

that, you know, ultimately that Jeffries is right at 825 or 

that -- not 825, but it's 790.  It was fully tried.  

Everyone participated here and frankly, we think that we 
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could go straight to a plan that, you know, gives us 26 

percent or if it's 790, you know, whatever percentage that 

is, pay them in full in equity.  We cited where we can pay 

them in full in equity.  And we can be out by March.  You're 

not going to hear that either of alternative finances -- 

  THE COURT:  No, no, you couldn't be out in March, 

you mean May. 

  MR. RICHARDS:  No, March. 

  THE COURT:  If you're out in March, that's a 

different plan. 

  MR. RICHARDS:  No, because we think we would -- 

  THE COURT:  You wouldn't have to re-solicit 

anybody? 

  MR. RICHARDS:  We don't think we'd have to re-

solicit them because we would go -- 

  THE COURT:  You would have to re-solicit the Ad 

Hoc Committee. 

  MR. RICHARDS:  No, because we're going to satisfy 

them in full with equity and we're going to go straight to a 

cram down.  And you -- they made clear how they're going to 

vote.  They're going to vote against it so there's no point 

to re-solicit.  Our Disclosure Statement would otherwise be 

no different than the debtors.  And we would just go with 

whatever valuation the Court determines and go forward with 

a plan based on that.  And whatever satisfies them in full 
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with equity, we would go with and we'd get the rest.  And we 

think that could be done very, very quickly.   

  You know, that's the only real change to the plan 

and, you know, the valuation issue has clearly been teed up.  

You know, there were two people who submitted expert 

rebuttal reports, us and the debtor.  And that's all teed up 

and ready to go.   

  So we think that somebody that could get done in 

March is possible and that that it would be much, much 

better for our constituency.  Again, we're getting to the 

merits and not other scenarios, but the issue before us is 

should you not hear this evidence at all and still make the 

findings you want and I think the narrow issue before us you 

should hear this evidence and I think if you don't hear this 

evidence, you're not going to be acting on a fully informed 

basis and you can't make some of the findings they want you 

to make. 

  MR. HELLER:  Your Honor, I would ask only for 120 

seconds.  I think I could do it, please. 

  THE COURT:  Okay. 

  MR. HELLER:  Your Honor, to suggest that we're not 

insolvent, we can't even pay the bonds.  How could we not be 

insolvent?  Yes, I glossed over it.  Solvency is a two prong 

test.  Balance sheet and ability to pay their debts as they 

mature.  We can't pay the bonds.  Even the Equity Committee 
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is going to pay the bonds with stock because they can't pay 

the bonds.  Prima facie evidence of insolvency. 

  Secondly, Your Honor, with respect to your 

findings, that's when we thought we better be ready for 

1129(b).  Your Honor's going to tell us what your findings 

are going to be and I think they'll fairly reflect this 

record.   

  With respect to the releases, I think they've 

raised some fair points.  We solved them. 

  The last point, Your Honor, this idea of well it's 

so little for us, Judge, I think it's time to call a spade a 

spade here.  They're going to take the option.  They're 

going to take this company, they're going to ignore Mr. 

Woodward's affidavit filed under seal as to what happens 

here if we keep this up.  And they're going to see if that 

maybe they could do better.   

  Your Honor, I walk across the aisle and I try to 

walk with the Equity Committee, pre-snow day, remember?  The 

bonds are going to change their vote.  That's now been 

stipulated.  I asked where's the consenting impaired class?  

It can't be my banks, they're going to take them out with 

the financier.  It can't be the bonds, we agreed they're 

voting against.  And you can't have the equity be a 

consenting impaired class.  Thank you, Your Honor. 

  THE COURT:  All right.  Here's what we're going to 
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do.  As to the Motion in Limine, it will be -- it is 

difficult to frame the ruling, but it will be granted in 

part in that I am not conducting a full valuation trial.  

This is governed by Section 1129(a) and I don't think that 

it contemplates or admits of a full valuation trial.  But I 

can't get away from the fact that the Equity Committee has 

alleged that the valuation put in by the debtor which is 

part of their case in chief is so flawed as to call into 

question the good faith of the submission of the plan.   

  And accordingly, I will allow you to test those 

propositions.  But I have conducted valuation trials.  This 

is not going to be a valuation trial, okay?  I will let you 

again, continue your examination of Mr. Shinder if you wish 

to do so and if you want to put Mr. White on, you can do so.  

But there is a limited scope of what it is that you are 

accomplishing.   

  Frankly, I don't see it as my role in a Section 

1129(a) hearing, to independently value the company.  The 

process is that the creditors and equity security holders, 

parties with an economic interest in the case have done so 

and have spoken and I have found that they have spoken.   

  So in my ruling, the best that I can do is give 

you guidance and then my ruling will be basically born out 

through my evidentiary record and I will look forward and I 

appreciate the efforts of counsel to coordinate with the 
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Court about how we're presenting the testimony.  But we have 

identified a number of areas, each one of which the debtor, 

I think honestly does have to address in a contested 

confirmation context.   

  It does seem to me and I have looked at the 

Adelphia decision, the others, frankly, Judge Gerber seems 

to have covered a lot of ground for me, as well as, the Kara 

decision and I have Central Medical here as well, but it 

does seem to me, I've never encountered a situation where a 

committee is opposing the economic treatment of their 

constituents when their constituents have voted in favor of 

the plan.  I realize that that point is hotly contested, but 

I haven't encountered that.   

  It is more plausible to me and you've touched on 

some of these issues with the releases.  It is more 

plausible or more coherent from my point of view, to see an 

official committee has a representative of its constituents 

who have voted to accept a plan to be addressing and, 

indeed, objecting to elements of the plan that don't go to 

the economic treatment which, I think the code presumes is 

the fundamental consideration for a party voting on a plan.  

But nevertheless, this is where we are.  So I will look to 

the debtor to put on their case. 

  MR. HELLER:  Your Honor, we would call Mr. White. 

  MR. MEYERHOFF:  We will bring him back. 
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  THE COURT:  Well where is he? 

  MR. HELLER:  How long will that take? 

  MR. MEYERHOFF:  Well Mr. White to testify as to 

valuation? 

  MR. HELLER:  Oh, no.  Maybe when you say valuation 

only -- 

  THE COURT:  If you can get to the mike. 

  MR. HELLER:  -- as Your Honor directed, only as to 

how the valuation Mr. Shinder came up with is in good faith. 

  THE COURT:  All right.  

  MR. MEYERHOFF:  Your Honor, I don't understand.  

Mr. White is not even our valuation expert.  Mr. Warner of 

the Jeffries Company is.  Mr. White, I can't imagine how he 

can speak to the issues that the Court just said you wanted 

to treat in a narrow fashion.  And I would ask that the 

debtor at least present the proffer of what they would ask 

Mr. White. 

  MR. HELLER:  Sure, happy to do so.  The good faith 

standard, Your Honor, and I'm going to need to check my 

notes very quickly, if I may.  The good faith standard from 

the cases is the good faith standard requires that the plan 

be proposed with honesty, good intentions, and a basis for 

expecting that the reorganization can be affected with 

results consistent with the objectives and purposes of the 

Bankruptcy Code.  That's Zenith.  Thus, a lack of good faith 
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generally references misconduct in the bankruptcy 

proceedings such as fraudulent misrepresentations or serious 

non-disclosure of material facts of the Court.   

  I would call Mr. White to say how cooperative Mr. 

Shinder has been.  How wonderful a partner he's been in this 

process.  Then I would call Mr. White to repeat the 

testimony that he gave Mr. Perry, I believe Tuesday, in 

which this alternative plan that they have alleged we are in 

bad faith for not pursuing has an implied valuation of $700 

million.  And I need to check one more fact.  Okay.  Mr. 

Shinder's expert report says that the high range of the 

valuation is in the high 600's.  Mr. White will I'm sure be 

truthful and repeat his deposition testimony that the 

implied value in their deal is 700.  So you've got high 

600's at the high range, 700 in their proposal.  And the 

only other point I want to make on that is that both are 

below the debt hurdle which happens to prove insolvency on a 

balance sheet basis.  That's the purpose. 

  MR. MEYERHOFF:  Your Honor, I'm not sure that we 

wouldn't have a stipulation that would avoid the need to 

call Mr. White that he testified that it was $700 million 

and that the -- that value was a discount to the plan value. 

  MR. HELLER:  Here's what happens, Judge.  Every 

time we don't have a live witness, I seem to misunderstand 

how they characterize the testimony.  I'd really like to 
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hear Mr. White. 

  THE COURT:  Yeah, you can hear Mr. White. 

  MR. HELLER:  Thank you. 

  MR. REISNER:  Well, Your Honor, that is -- the 

parties may have mentioned we, you know, there had also been 

settlement discussions.  They're over at Bayard we will -- 

if we can have a 10 minute recess, we will have him back, 

but he was canvassing the committee members about the 

settlement overture so we will have -- 

  THE COURT:  Okay. 

  MR. HELLER:  Your Honor, objection.  There has not 

been a settlement overture.  And I don't want to talk about 

settlement on the record if we could avoid it, please, Your 

Honor.  Your Honor, I can tell you that the nemesis would 

thrill me if they became friendly, but I think what's going 

on is not properly before you in this Court. 

  THE COURT:  Well, let's do this.  Tell him to run, 

10 minutes. 

  MR. HELLER:  Thank you, Your Honor. 

(Recess from 3:30 p.m. to 4:21 p.m.) 

    THE CLERK:  All rise. 

  THE COURT:  Please be seated.  Mr. Heller? 

  MR. HELLER:  Thank you, Your Honor.  We would call 

Mr. White, please.  I notice that -- yeah, equity counsel 

does not appear to be at the table.  There they are, Your 
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Honor, thank you. 

  THE COURT:  Okay. 

  MR. HELLER:  Your Honor, before we proceed, I 

misspoke.  I said that Mr. Shinder's high range was in the 

high 6's, it's in the low 6's. 

  THE COURT:  It's in the low 6's, I recall. 

  MR. HELLER:  Thank you, Your Honor, I'm sorry 

about that. 

  THE COURT:  That's all right.  Swear the witness, 

please. 

ROBERT JOSEPH WHITE DEBTORS’ WITNESS, SWORN 

  MR. HELLER:  Good afternoon, Mr. White.  David 

Heller on behalf of the debtors.  And Your Honor, I would 

call Mr. White as an adverse witness.  

  THE COURT:  So noted. 

DIRECT EXAMINATION 

BY MR. HELLER:   

Q. Mr. White, I'm going to try and be as succinct as 

possible.  I know you ran back here and I thank you for 

that.  You're with Jeffries.  Correct? 

A. Correct. 

Q. And you've previously testified that you're one of the 

primary people in the Jeffries engagement in the Accuride 

case.  Isn't that correct? 

A. That's correct. 
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Q. All right.  In that capacity, were you part of the team 

or involved in the team that went out to look for better 

deals than that which the debtor has been pursuing? 

A. I was part of that team. 

Q. Okay.  And what role did you play on that team? 

A. I helped lead the canvassing of potential investors. 

Q. All right.  And you came up with a proposal and we're 

going to use that term advisedly from what I will refer to 

often as A, the Ahab Group.  Correct? 

A. That's correct. 

Q. Okay.  Who very briefly is the Ahab Group? 

A. Ahab Capital is a hedge fund that specializes in 

distressed debt.  I believe they manage approximately $250 

million. 

Q. All right.  And was that the -- to this point today, is 

that the best alternate proposal that you've been able to 

come up with? 

A. Taken as a whole, yes. 

Q. When you say taken as a whole? 

A. Well the Ahab proposal also requires the exit financing 

from the alternative financier. 

Q. Understood.  It's part and parcel, the two work 

together, do they not? 

A. That's correct. 

Q. All right.  In this examination, I'm going to ask you 
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to just assume and bear with me that the bank financing is 

available and committed.  All right? 

A. Yes, sure. 

Q. But we agree that it's not committed at this point, 

isn't that correct?   

A. I would agree. 

Q. All right.  Now there was -- the first Ahab proposal 

and there was a second Ahab proposal.  Correct? 

A. That's correct. 

Q. All right.  I'm going to call them Ahab 1 and 2 if 

you'll work with me, all right? 

A. Yeah, yeah, go ahead. 

Q. All right.  And you know which one is 1, it's the one 

that came first. 

A. Of course. 

Q. Okay.  I don't want to spend a lot of time on the Ahab 

1 proposal, I just have a couple of quick questions.  The 

debtor received the Ahab proposal, I think on a Thursday or 

Friday before the Super Bowl.  Does that sound right to you 

towards the timing? 

A. I recall we received we received it on the Thursday 

before the Super Bowl.  I assume we sent it to you 

immediately thereafter. 

Q. All right.  And on Super Bowl Sunday, Mr. Shinder 

called you about Ahab 1, didn't he? 
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A. He did call me, yes. 

Q. And generally, what was the purpose of his call to you 

regarding Ahab 1? 

A. My recollection is he was trying to determine the fully 

diluted equity allocations under the original Ahab proposal. 

Q. All right.  And was that relevant to anything under 

Ahab 1? 

A. It would be relevant to recoveries to the key 

constituents.   

Q. And did Mr. Shinder suggest to you that we were 

surprised by what the total enterprise value implied in Ahab 

1 was? 

A. I don't recall that conversation.  Regarding enterprise 

value, I don't recall discussing -- 

Q. Nothing about a $625 million enterprise valuation? 

A. We didn't discuss enterprise value on that call. 

Q. Okay.  You're familiar with Ahab 1.  Correct? 

A. I am familiar with it. 

Q. And you're familiar with the concept of total 

enterprise value.  Correct? 

A. Absolutely. 

Q. And was there a total enterprise value discernible from 

Ahab 1? 

A. There was. 

Q. And would the total enterprise value have been under 
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Ahab 1 as Mr. Shinder told you he was reading it? 

A. I don't recall Mr. Shinder discussing enterprise value 

with me at that time. 

Q. I'm not suggesting that.  You've answered that and I 

accept your answer.  My question is he told you how he 

interpreted Ahab 1, did he not? 

A. My recollection is we only discussed his understanding 

of what the equity splits were. 

Q. Okay.  And based on those equity splits was there -- he 

gave you his understanding.  Correct? 

A. He did. 

Q. All right.  And did you say your understanding is 

correct? 

A. When it came to the equity splits at the time, I said 

yes, that sounds correct.  And my recollection is that we 

were discussing in my mind as he was asking the question, I 

was thinking of the fully diluted splits.  I realized after 

that conversation that I was not including the $100 million 

preferred that was going to the sub-noteholders. 

Q. And if you didn't include it, then the takeaway would 

be $100 million less in total enterprise value.  Correct? 

A. It depended on where the convertible preferred strike 

price was. 

Q. All right.  Let me ask you this.  At all times during 

Super Bowl Sunday at least was Mr. Shinder cooperative? 
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A. Yes, he was. 

Q. Forthcoming? 

A. Yes, he was. 

Q. Trying to understand the proposal? 

A. That's my recollection, yes. 

Q. Acting in what you in your experience as an investment 

banker would consider good faith? 

A. Yes, I would agree with that. 

Q. All right.  Now there came a time after that that you 

on behalf of the debtor withdrew Ahab 1.  Correct? 

A. I don't recall formally withdrawing it.  We revised it. 

Q. All right. 

A. That's my recollection -- 

Q. But Ahab 2 was delivered to the debtor? 

A. Yes, it was. 

Q. When was Ahab 2 delivered? 

A. Monday of this week. 

Q. Okay.  And with respect to Ahab 2, do you know whether 

or not the Ahab business people were asked to sign a 

Confidentiality Agreement so they could access confidential 

information? 

A. My recollection is they were. 

Q. All right.  And do you believe that in order for the 

Ahab proposal to be serious, they would have had to have had 

a prior look at confidential information? 
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A. Can you repeat the question? 

Q. Sure.  Generally, when a party comes to you and makes a 

proposal, if it's not fully committed, then it is by 

definition conditional.  Correct? 

A. Correct. 

Q. And one of Ahab 2's conditions is due diligence.  Is it 

not? 

A. That's my recollection, yes. 

Q. Okay.  It's accurate.  Your recollection's accurate.  

And due diligence is a review of a company.  Correct? 

A. Yes, it is. 

Q. And it often involves confidential information like 

pricing and margins.  Correct? 

A. Correct. 

Q. And is that information that a reasonably qualified 

investor in a deal would want access to? 

A. Frequently, yes, but in this situation, Ahab, I believe 

was willing to rely on the due diligence of the alternative 

financier. 

Q. All right.  And it was your understanding is that even 

though he wouldn't be able to look at the confidential 

information? 

A. Again, that's my recollection but that may have changed 

as things moved forward.  In other words, if the -- 

Q. But isn't a Confidentiality Agreement almost the first 
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document a party interest in the transaction signs? 

A. Not necessarily.  This was a non-binding term sheet. 

Q. And why if it's a non-binding term sheet, why wouldn't 

you expect a Confidentiality Agreement? 

A. It would have depended upon whether the board, the 

Special Committee, felt as though they wanted to move 

forward with it.  And at that point, Ahab may have felt 

differently about -- 

Q. All right.  Let's move -- so Ahab didn't want to get 

any confidential information until the board said it was 

interested in moving forward.  Correct? 

A. That's a -- what I'm suggesting is that's a 

possibility. 

Q. What's the danger in signing a Confidentiality 

Agreement? 

A. Well Ahab is in the markets on a daily basis as an 

investor and at the time they felt as though they didn't 

want to get restricted. 

Q. What do you mean by restricted? 

A. Restricted from trading. 

Q. Trading the debt? 

A. Trading the securities. 

Q. Do you know if they're trading the securities? 

A. I do not know. 

Q. Do you know if they're trading the equity? 
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A. I know that they're a shareholder, yes. 

Q. Okay.  But do you know if they're buying and selling 

shares? 

A. I do not. 

Q. Okay.  All right.  Are you familiar with the phrase 

total enterprise value? 

A. I am. 

Q. All right.  Can you please give us your understanding 

of that phrase's import? 

A. It's the value -- from a valuation perspective, it's 

the value of the assets as whole. 

Q. And in Ahab 2 is there enough information to understand 

the total enterprise value imbedded in Ahab 2? 

A. There's enough information for you to understand at 

what valuation their direct equity investment comes in and 

what price their purchasing the equity. 

Q. All right.  So help me out here because I want to make 

sure I understand.  From Ahab 2, putting aside the 

contingencies and everything else, if it was fully 

committed, you could look at Ahab 2 and say Ahab is buying 

in at this price.  Is that correct? 

A. That's correct. 

Q. All right.  And you had an opportunity, did you not to 

examine Ahab 2 to frame the total enterprise value 

communicated by Ahab 2, did you not? 
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A. Yes, we did. 

Q. And what is the total enterprise value implicit in 

Ahab's 2? 

A. Ahab buys in at a discount to Jeffries estimated 

midpoint valuation.  They buy in at approximate $685 

million. 

Q. All right. 

A. Total enterprise value. 

Q. So they buy in at $685 million.  Correct? 

A. That's correct. 

Q. That's -- 

A. But that's no different than what the noteholder's 

current proposal is doing as well.  They are buying in at a 

significant discount to Perella's estimate of what the 

midpoint enterprise value -- 

Q. I missed the question.  Is there anything else you want 

to say on that?  Because my only question was is there a 

number and I think the answer was $685.  Correct?  

A. That's correct. 

Q. All right.  Are you familiar with the phrase we have 

been using in this case and others the hurdle number? 

A. The claims hurdle, yes. 

Q. Yes.  And how do you -- what do you understand the 

claims hurdle to be? 

A. It's approximately $718 million. 
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Q. All right.  Now if you accept the valuation that Ahab 2 

gives us, isn't that valuation below the claims hurdle where 

Ahab is buying into the equity? 

A. Yes.  But that's again, it's not uncommon for a rights 

offering or a direct equity investment to purchase equity at 

a discount. 

Q. And why would you buy equity at a discount? 

A. Well that investor is taking on significantly more, 

potentially more risk than other constituents in the case. 

Q. But he's not taking any risks that the company's worth 

less than $685 is he, on his analysis? 

A. No, he's not. 

Q. All right.  And he's not willing to risk that it's 

worth $700 million under Ahab 2, is he? 

A. Can you repeat the question? 

Q. Yes.  The Ahab proposal communicates that they're not 

prepared to take the risk that -- they're not prepared to 

buy in at a value at $700 million or higher, isn't that 

correct? 

A. That's correct.  However, it's a significantly higher 

valuation than what the noteholders have -- 

Q. Higher, but not so as to clear the hurdle rate.  

Correct? 

A. That's correct. 

Q. All right.  Now there's been some talk about whether 
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this debtor is solvent.  How do you understand balance sheet 

solvency? 

A. Positive equity value. 

Q. All right.  And after just a moment, you used a total 

enterprise value that Ahab has prepared to buy in at after 

taking his discount.  Does it exceed the debtors' 

liabilities? 

A. The purchase price that they're buying in at does not 

exceed the claims hurdle. 

Q. Thank you.  Now Ahab is also getting a backstop fee.  

Is that correct? 

A. They've requested a backstop fee as part of their 

proposal. 

Q. And do you have a view as to what backstop fee is 

customary in today's marketplace? 

A. I have an opinion, yes. 

Q. And what is your opinion, please? 

A. Based on my report -- 

  MR. HELLER:  Your Honor, if I may interrupt Mr. 

White, I understand that the -- whatever the plural of 

nemesis is -- 

  THE COURT:  Nemeses. 

  MR. HELLER:  Thank you.  The nemeses would like to 

-- 

  THE COURT:  I took years of high school Greek. 
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(Laughter) 

  MR. HELLER:  And, Your Honor, (indiscernible) I 

and Hebrew School. 

  THE COURT:  There you go. 

  MR. HELLER:  Your Honor, I think the nemeses would 

like to address the Court and I think we have a solution. 

  THE COURT:  Okay. 

  MR. SHINDERMAN:  Your Honor, I have not appeared 

before, Mark Shinderman of Millbank, counsel to the Ad Hoc. 

  THE COURT:  Good afternoon. 

  MR. SHINDERMAN:  Good afternoon.  With me is Mr. 

Shenfeld -- 

  THE COURT:  Okay. 

  MR. HELLER:  -- and Ms. Dupray [ph]. 

  THE COURT:  Ms. Machen? 

  MS. MACHEN:  Thank you, Your Honor.  We believe 

that we have a settlement that we are prepared to announce 

to the Court.  I just would like just two minutes just to 

quickly make sure that we're all on the same page, but I 

think we're there. 

  THE COURT:  Do you want me to break for 2 minutes? 

  MS. MACHEN:  Or five, but we're there.   

  THE COURT:  Okay. 

  MS. MACHEN:  I just want to make sure that all the 

parties who are involved in the settlement are in agreement. 
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  THE COURT:  All right.  That sounds fine.  Five 

minutes.  Stand in recess. 

  MR. HELLER:  Thank you, Your Honor. 

(Recess from 4:37 p.m. to 4:43 p.m.) 

  THE CLERK:  All rise. 

  THE COURT:  Please be seated.  Ready to proceed?  

Mr. Shenfeld? 

  MR. SHENFELD:  Good afternoon, Your Honor.  Robert 

Shenfeld, Millbank, Tweed, Hadley, McCloy on behalf of the 

Ad Hoc -- 

  THE COURT:  Hang on.  Good question.  I assume 

that our witness is excused. 

  MR. HELLER:  I'm sorry, Your Honor. 

  THE COURT:  No, no, no, that's just fine, I want 

the record to be clear.  Is that correct? 

(Laughter) 

  MR. HELLER:  If he's done with me -- 

  THE COURT:  Don't go far. 

(Laughter) 

  MR. HELLER:  All right, thank you, Your Honor. 

  THE COURT:  The record will note that Mr. White's 

examination is at least temporarily halted.  Mr. Shenfeld? 

  MR. SHENFELD:  Thank you, Your Honor.  Again, for 

the record, Robert Shenfeld, Millbank, Tweed, Hadley, McCloy 

on behalf of the Ad Hoc Noteholder Group.   
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  I'm pleased to report that we have reached a 

settlement of the objections of the Equity Committee to 

confirmation.  And counsel to the Equity Committee will run 

through the terms of that agreement.   

  But I would first like to open the comments by 

thanking the Court for your time and your indulgence on this 

case.  The debtor, Latham & Watkins, the debtors' 

management, the Equity Committee, their counsel, their 

advisors, our advisors, Rothchild, advisors to the pre-

petition lenders, as well as, lender's counsel, White & 

Case, the agent facility, Deutsche Bank, everyone -- I feel 

like the Academy Awards.  If I leave out -- 

(Laughter) 

  THE COURT:  Is the Academy Awards? 

  MR. SHENFELD:  If I leave out my agent and my 

mother, I apologize, but they all also have played a role in 

this.  But the point really is, Your Honor is just as we're 

-- I am leaving today in the same way that I arrived on 

October 9 which is having worked all hours, all days coming 

up to this hearing.  Prior to October 9, I believe we worked 

the 6th, the 7th, the 8th, round the clock with all the 

counsel.  Our group believes very strongly in the success of 

this debtor.  We've put our money where our mouth is 

throughout the case to help the debtor get into bankruptcy, 

get out of bankruptcy, stay in bankruptcy, and emerge on the 
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time line that the debtor felt is in the best interest of 

its company.   

  So we are glad and pleased to be here today to 

leave today knowing that this confirmation of this plan that 

was put together.  And again, thank Your Honor for your time 

and understanding, but just wanted to express our gratitude 

to all the parties for their hard work and diligence in 

making the debtors' plan a reality.  Thank you. 

  THE COURT:  Okay.  Ms. Machen? 

  MS. MACHEN:  Thank you, Your Honor.  Again, I want 

to thank you for all of your patience and indulgence and 

giving us as many breaks as we needed.  We sure did need 

quite a few in the last couple of days.  I do also want to 

thank all of the professionals who worked very hard on this 

case.  And while it wasn't always fun for us, I do want to 

commend debtors' professionals, the noteholders, the 

Committee, and the pre-petition lenders for working very 

professionally with us.  And I think we hopefully, came away 

feeling like we're still all friends after what we've been 

through. 

  I want to announce the terms of the settlement -- 

  THE COURT:  Very well. 

  MS. MACHEN:  -- that we have.  We have agreed to 

lower the strike price on the warrants to $2.10.  That's 

$2.10. 
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  THE COURT:  Yep. 

  MS. MACHEN:  Sun Capital has graciously given the 

Equity Committee half of its warrants that it will be 

receiving under the plan.  I'm sorry, Mr. Richards corrects 

me, it's not the Equity Committee, but the equity holders. 

  THE COURT:  Right. 

  MS. MACHEN:  I apologize. 

  THE COURT:  I got it. 

  MS. MACHEN:  We've also agreed with respect to the 

current settlements that are up.  The noteholder settlement 

and the Sun settlement, those will be approved.  We don't 

have any objections and we withdraw those at this time.  The 

releases will be granted. 

  With respect to the fees in this case of the 

Equity Committees' professionals, the lawyers' fees will be 

reduced by $250,000.  Jeffries will be receiving an 

additional month of payment.  So it's -- Jeffries original 

retention application and the order provided that they would 

be working for 3 months, it will now be 4 months.  That 

fourth month will be at $150. 

  MR. HELLER:  And, Your Honor, I want to be really 

clear about that.  That's at our request to help bring this 

to closure. 

  THE COURT:  So noted. 

  MR. HELLER:  Thank you, Your Honor. 
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  MS. MACHEN:  I also understand that the 

noteholders and the debtors at this time will not be 

objecting to any of the lawyers' fees or the professional's 

fees.   

  THE COURT:  Okay. 

  MS. MACHEN:  I think that's all for now.  If 

you'll just give me one second.  Jeffries will also be 

waiving its success fee in this matter. 

  THE COURT:  Very well. 

  MS. MACHEN:  And I think that's -- those are the 

terms of our settlement.  We hopefully, hope we can proceed.  

Sun Capital's fees which were originally $1.5 under the 

Settlement Agreement will now be raised to $1.65. 

  THE COURT:  Okay.   

  MS. MACHEN:  And I think that about wraps it up.  

Again, Your Honor, thank you very much for all your time and 

patience with us and we hope that we presented some very 

interesting legal issues before you and we appreciate you 

handling them as thoughtfully as you did. 

  THE COURT:  I'm happy to oblige. 

  MS. MACHEN:  Thank you, Your Honor. 

  THE COURT:  Yes.  Mr. Athanas? 

  MR. ATHANAS:  Hello, Your Honor.  Joe Athanas on 

behalf of the debtors.  I wonder if you wonder what I was 

doing here all this time. 
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  MR. HELLER:  I did. 

  MR. ATHANAS:  My partner, David Heller did. 

(Laughter) 

  MR. ATHANAS:  Your Honor, what all this means in 

terms of the various pleadings, I'd like to sort of shift.  

We've been in the middle of a confirmation hearing, but I 

would like to shift to the two Settlement Motions first, if 

we may.  Get those out of the way, and then we'll go back to 

confirmation if it's all right with you. 

  THE COURT:  Okay.  I think because I do want to be 

clear, I understand the settlement and I will note at least 

that I have no issue with it.  But I don't think the debtor 

is done with its confirmation case. 

  MR. ATHANAS:  No. 

  THE COURT:  So clearly, we don't need live 

witnesses or anything else.  And you've got enough of a 

record, but I do think that we need to finish making the 

record. 

  MR. ATHANAS:  Agreed, Your Honor. 

  THE COURT:  Okay. 

  MR. ATHANAS:  So shifting gears now to the Sun 

settlement first.  I think Your Honor's heard plenty about 

that settlement.  There will be two changes to the 

settlement as it currently exists.  The first would be that 

the cap on the professional fees will be raised from $1.5 
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million to $1.65 million.  And the second would be that half 

of the warrants to which they're entitled under the plan 

would be distributed to other equity holders. 

  THE COURT:  All right.  Is that part of the Sun 

settlement or is that actually part of the -- part of a plan 

deal? 

  MR. ATHANAS:  I think that probably it's 

appropriate to put -- 

  THE COURT:  Follow up piece. 

  MR. ATHANAS:  -- it in the Sun settlement and then 

it will be distributed pursuant to the plan.  And we'll have 

the order on the Sun settlement reflect those changes. 

  THE COURT:  Fair enough. 

  MR. ATHANAS:  Any questions on the Sun settlement? 

  THE COURT:  I actually don't.  Does anyone else 

wish to be heard regarding the Sun settlement? 

(No audible response heard.) 

  THE COURT:  Okay.  With respect to the Sun 

settlement, I obviously have had an opportunity today and 

yesterday in the context of other proceedings to hear 

substantial evidence and testimony with respect to the terms 

of the Sun settlement.  I have had an opportunity as I said 

to review the underlying application and I am prepared to 

approve it.  I note that the application is submitted under 

Bankruptcy Rule 9019.  There was some question about whether 



 102

 
1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

or not it is indeed governed by Rule 9019.  I am satisfied 

that it is, in fact, a settlement governed by Rule 9019.  

The standards under 9019 are not in dispute.  And it will 

suffice to say that the record has been met and the 

application for the settlement, for approval of the 

settlement as now revised is granted. 

  MR. ATHANAS:  Thank you, Your Honor.  Next, I'd 

like to take up the strike price settlement.   

  THE COURT:  Okay. 

  MR. ATHANAS:  I'm sure Your Honor is familiar with 

the terms of that settlement.  Essentially, the one change 

to that settlement will be a $2.10 strike price instead of a 

$2.15 strike price and we'll change the order on that motion 

accordingly as well. 

  THE COURT:  Okay.  Does anyone else wish to be 

heard regarding the Strike Price Settlement Motion? 

(No audible response heard.) 

  THE COURT:  Okay.  Again, there's been some 

substantial discussion argument and testimony with respect 

to the strike price and related treatment of equity 

securities to be distributed under the plan.  I'm satisfied 

that the debtors have carried their burden with respect to 

their request for approval of the strike price and as 

revised and in the absence of opposition I will approve the 

application and I'll look for that order under certification 
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as well. 

  MR. ATHANAS:  Thank you, Your Honor.  Turning back 

now to confirmation.  I think we have a little bit evidence 

we have to formally move to be admitted. 

  THE COURT:  I think that's right. 

  MR. FOSTER:  Your Honor, you have this big fat 

notebook here. 

  MR. ATHANAS:  May I step back, Your Honor? 

  THE COURT:  Sure. 

  MR. ATHANAS:  Thank you. 

  MR. FOSTER:  Accuride trial exhibits filed under 

seal, we did pre-trial this with the debtor -- or with the 

Equity Committee and they've confirmed they have no 

objection to any of the materials in there.  We had moved 

earlier for the admission of the two Stein submissions. 

  THE COURT:  Right. 

  MR. FOSTER:  And now we'd like to move for the 

admission of the rest of this. 

  THE COURT:  Okay. 

  MR. FOSTER:  Thank you.  And then the other item, 

Your Honor is -- 

  THE COURT:  Hang on a second.  Any objection? 

(No audible response heard.) 

  THE COURT:  All right.  No objection, all of the 

exhibits contained in that binder identified as Accuride 
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trial exhibits filed under seal are admitted. 

  MR. FOSTER:  Thank you very much, Your Honor.  And 

then the other fat book that you received -- 

  THE COURT:  The deposition designations? 

  MR. FOSTER:  -- the deposition designations, it's 

the joint deposition designations in reference to exhibits 

was jointly prepared by us with the Equity Committee and -- 

  THE COURT:  That is admitted. 

  MR. FOSTER:  Very good.  Thank you, Your Honor. 

  THE COURT:  Okay.   

  MR. ATHANAS:  Your Honor, Joe Athanas again on 

behalf of the debtors.  I think with all that, Your Honor, 

Your Honor has ample evidence on 1129(a).  In fact, probably 

the most of any confirmation hearing I've ever attended.  

Rather than go through each individual section of 1129(a), 

I'd ask Your Honor if Your Honor's read all the 

declarations, you know that we've got factual supports for 

every finding in our order, in those declarations that 

you've now admitted into evidence.   

  Your Honor, there would be two changes to the 

Confirmation Order.  But before I get to those, the changes 

related to the settlement, there were some other objections 

to the Confirmation Order believe it or not, other than the 

Equity Committee.  And there's a chart that was attached to 

the very back of the confirmation brief. 
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  THE COURT:  I have it. 

  MR. ATHANAS:  Okay, Your Honor.  I will only go 

through the objections that weren't set forth as being 

resolved and there were three of them.  The first which is 

Item No. 2 on that chart was an objection of a non-

accredited investor who was a noteholder who wanted to 

participate in the rights offering.  Your Honor, I don't 

know if that person is present to present their objection, 

but I'll cede the podium if they are. 

(No audible response heard.) 

  THE COURT:  Okay.  I have had an opportunity to 

review that objection.  I understand the position or I 

believe I understand the position or concern expressed by 

the non-accredited investor, but based upon my careful 

review of it and the debtors' response thereto, it appears 

to me that frankly, I'm not certain that it's actually an 

objection to the plan.  But to the extent that it is, it 

will be overruled. 

  MR. ATHANAS:  Thank you, Your Honor.  There are 

two more objections listed as unresolved, both of which are 

with the United States of America.  The first is with the 

IRS and the second is with the Department of Health and 

Human Services.  I am pleased to say that we've resolved 

both of those objections and there's language in the order 

that resolves them that's been agreed to by the United 
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States of America. 

  THE COURT:  Okay.  That sounds fine. 

  MR. ATHANAS:  With that, Your Honor, the only 

remaining changes to the Confirmation Order will be to put 

in that Sonnenschein's fees will be whatever they are minus 

$200,000 and that the parties won't object. 

  THE COURT:  250. 

  MR. ATHANAS:  Oh, I'm sorry, 250.  250, Your 

Honor, and the parties won't object.  And secondly, that the 

Jeffries fees will be allowed at 450. 

  THE COURT:  I understand.  Okay.  Does anyone else 

wish to be heard regarding the debtors' request for 

confirmation of their plan? 

  MR. ATHANAS:  Oh, I'm sorry, 600, Your Honor, on 

Jeffries. 

  THE COURT:  Right. 

  MR. ATHANAS:  That's right. 

  THE COURT:  Yeah, four times 150. 

  MR. ATHANAS:  I'm sorry.  So to clarify, Your 

Honor, so we kept it straight for the record -- 

(Laughter) 

  MR. ATHANAS:  -- it's Sonnenschein's actual fees 

and expenses less $250,000 and Jeffries -- 

  THE COURT:  And Jeffries -- 

  MR. ATHANAS:  -- fees and expenses will be a total 
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of 600. 

  THE COURT:  I understand, okay.   

  MR. FOSTER:  It's the as allowed fees of 

Sonnenschein minus 250. 

  THE COURT:  I think that's what e said. 

  MR. ATHANAS:  Yes. 

  THE COURT:  I understand that the applications are 

subject to Court review and approval and then what -- the 

way I understood Ms. Machen is that they will be submitted 

with I assume a notation that they're reduced by the 250 

from whatever is ultimately allowed, right? 

  MS. MACHEN:  That's correct, Your Honor. 

  THE COURT:  Okay. 

  MS. MACHEN:  We'll note a credit on the -- 

  THE COURT:  Yeah, I think that's the best way to 

do it.  Okay. 

  MR. FOSTER:  Thank you, Your Honor. 

  THE COURT:  Okay.  All right.  Does anyone else 

wish to be heard regarding the debtors' request for 

confirmation of their plan? 

(No audible response heard.)  

  THE COURT:  All right.  As noted before, the Court 

has already made a series of rulings with respect to the 

preliminary or threshold issues on plan confirmation and I 

note again that the Court has determined that all classes 
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that are entitled to vote on the plan have voted to accept 

the plan and accordingly confirmation of the plan of 

reorganization is governed by Section 1129(a).  There is no 

shortage of evidence that's been submitted to the Court and 

I note that I think every document that has been submitted 

has been submitted without objection by the parties.   

  And again, I commend all of the parties for their 

efforts in coordinating this exercise.  But I am certainly 

satisfied that the debtors have carried their burden under 

Bankruptcy Code Section 1129.  Circumstances do not require 

me given the resolution between the parties of the primary 

extent objections, do not require me, I think to go through 

on a line by line or element by element basis.  Let me 

simply say that I have had an opportunity to review the 

various submissions including the debtors' officer's 

submissions, as well as, Mr. Stein's affidavit and I'm 

satisfied again that the evidentiary record is sufficient to 

meet the statutory requirements under Section 1129(a) and to 

the extent implicated Section 1123 of the Bankruptcy Code.  

  With the modifications that have been noted by the 

parties on the record and that I expect to see built into 

the revised Form of Order approving the plan, as well as, 

the settlement orders that are congenitally related 

ultimately to plan confirmation, I am prepared to approve 

the plan and I will look for the order under certification 
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of counsel.  Are there any questions? 

  MR. ATHANAS:  Thank you very much, Your Honor. 

  THE COURT:  All right.  Are there any questions?  

Okay.  Ms. Reckler? 

  MS. RECKLER:  Your Honor, can we hand mark the 

Confirmation Order because we'd love for that to be docketed 

today and handed to your clerk. 

  THE COURT:  You can -- 

  MS. RECKLER:  Or send it over tomorrow. 

(Laughter) 

  UNKNOWN SPEAKER:  A great lawyer in the making, 

Your Honor. 

  MR. ATHANAS:  Your Honor, whatever you deem 

appropriate. 

  THE COURT:  Well I'll tell you what.  It will -- 

why don't you mark it up and if I'm still here it gets on, 

if not, that's fine, but it would be on at the latest by 

first thing tomorrow morning so I think that works one way 

or the other, all right?  Okay?   

  Again, I would note my appreciation to the 

parties.  This is, you know, we're in litigation and I 

understand how that process plays out, but again, it seems 

to me that I am pleased with the way that the matter has 

worked itself out.  And again, I am hopeful that the debtors 

see a bright and successful future on a going forward basis.  
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We'll stand in recess.   Thank you, counsel. 

  MR. HELLER:  Many thanks, Your Honor. 

  MR. ATHANAS:  Thank you, Your Honor.  

 (Whereupon, at 4:59 p.m., the hearing was adjourned.) 
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UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT
District of Delaware

In Re:
Accuride Corporation
7140 Office Circle
Evansville, IN 47715

Chapter: 11

 EIN: 61−1109077

Case No.:  09−13449−BLS

NOTICE OF FILING OF TRANSCRIPT AND OF DEADLINES RELATED TO RESTRICTION AND
REDACTION

       A transcript of the proceeding held on 02/18/10 was filed on 02/26/10 . The following deadlines apply:

       The parties have  7 days to file with the court a Notice of Intent to Request Redaction of this transcript. The
deadline for filing a request for redaction is 03/19/10 .

       If a request for redaction is filed, the redacted transcript is due 03/29/10 .

       If no such notice is filed, the transcript may be made available for remote electronic access upon expiration of the
restriction period, which is 05/27/10 unless extended by court order.

       To review the transcript for redaction purposes, you may purchase a copy from the transcriber (see docket for
Transcriber's information) or you may view the document at the clerk's office public terminal.

             Clerk of Court
Date: 2/26/10

(ntc)



Notice Recipients

District/Off: 0311−1 User: Theresa Date Created: 2/26/2010

Case: 09−13449−BLS Form ID: ntcBK Total: 4

Recipients of Notice of Electronic Filing:
ust United States Trustee             USTPREGION03.WL.ECF@USDOJ.GOV

TOTAL: 1

Recipients submitted to the BNC (Bankruptcy Noticing Center):
db Accuride Corporation           7140 Office Circle           Evansville, IN 47715
aty Kara Hammond Coyle           Young Conaway Stargatt &Taylor LLP           1000 West St., 17th

Floor           Brandywine Building           Wilmington, DE 19801
aty Michael R. Nestor           Young Conaway Stargatt &Taylor           The Brandywine Bldg.           1000 West Street, 17th

Floor           PO Box 391           Wilmington, DE 19899

TOTAL: 3
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